STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION X-SQUARE BALANCED FUND

Class A – SQBFX Class C –SQCBX

Institutional Class – SQBIX

April 30, 2023

This Statement of Additional Information ("SAI") is not a prospectus, but should be read in conjunction with the prospectus of the X-Square Balanced Fund (the "Fund") dated April 30, 2023 (the "Prospectus"). This SAI is incorporated by reference in its entirety into the Prospectus. Copies of the Prospectus may be obtained by writing to X-Square, P.O. Box 1920, Denver, CO 80203 or by calling the Fund toll free at 1-833-X-SQUARE.

The audited financial statements for the Fund contained in the <u>annual report</u> to the Fund's shareholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, are incorporated in this SAI by reference in the section entitled "Financial Statements." Copies of the annual reports may be obtained upon request and without charge by calling toll free at 1-833-X-SQUARE.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND LIMITATIONS	2
VALUATION OF PORTFOLIO SECURITIES	24
PERFORMANCE	24
ADDITIONAL PURCHASE, EXCHANGE AND REDEMPTION INFORMATION	25
MANAGERS AND OFFICERS	30
ADVISORY AND OTHER CONTRACTS	34
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	38
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION	39
CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLERS	40
APPENDIX A – DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS	A-1
APPENDIX B - PROXY VOTING POLICIES	B-1

STATEMENT OF ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

X-Square Balanced Fund, LLC (the "Fund") was organized on December 24, 2018 as a limited liability company under Chapter XIX of the Puerto Rico General Corporation Law, as amended. The Fund is an open-end management investment company and is classified as diversified under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act").

Much of the information contained in this SAI expands on subjects discussed in the Fund's Prospectus. Capitalized terms not defined herein are used as defined in the Prospectus. No investment in shares of the Fund should be made without first reading the Prospectus.

INVESTMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND LIMITATIONS

Investment Objective and Strategies

The Fund seeks conservation of capital, current income and long-term growth of capital and income. The Fund's investment objective is not fundamental. That means that it may be changed without a shareholder vote. There can be no assurance that the Fund will achieve its investment objectives.

The Fund uses a balanced approach to invest in a broad range of securities, including common stocks and investment-grade bonds (rated Baa3 or better or BBB or better by a Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating Organization designated by X-Square Capital, LLC (the "Adviser"), the investment adviser to the Fund, or unrated but determined to be of equivalent quality).

Normally, the Fund will target a 60% allocation towards U.S. equity securities and a 40% allocation towards fixed income securities, including, but not limited to, investment-grade corporate debt, U.S. agency securities, and U.S. mortgage-backed securities and related derivatives. The Fund may also invest in securities of foreign issuers. Although the Fund focuses on investments in larger capitalization companies, the Fund's investments are not limited to a particular capitalization size. Certain less liquid or illiquid holdings of the Fund may include small- and micro-capitalization stocks.

The Fund may also hold cash or money market instruments, including commercial paper and short-term securities issued by U.S. government agencies and instrumentalities. The percentage of the Fund's assets invested in such holdings varies and depends on various factors, including market conditions and purchases and redemptions of Fund shares. The Adviser may determine that it is appropriate to invest a substantial portion of the Fund's assets in such instruments in response to certain circumstances, such as periods of market turmoil. The Fund may invest without limitation in such instruments for temporary defensive purposes.

Additional Information Regarding Fund Investments

The following policies and limitations supplement the Fund's investment policies set forth in the Prospectus. The Fund's investments in the securities and other financial instruments are subject to the other investment policies and limitations described in the Prospectus and this SAI.

The following sections list the Fund's investment policies, limitations, and restrictions. The securities in which the Fund can invest and the risks associated with these securities are discussed in the section entitled "Instruments in Which the Fund Can Invest."

Fundamental Investment Limitations

The Fund is subject to the fundamental investment limitations enumerated below, which may be changed with respect to the Fund only by a vote of the holders of a majority of the Fund's outstanding shares. Such majority is defined as the lesser of (a) 67% or more of the shares of the Fund present at a meeting at which the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund are represented in person or by proxy, or (b) more than 50% of the outstanding shares of the Fund.

The Fund may not:

- (1) Make loans, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemptions therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (2) Purchase or sell real estate or real estate limited partnerships, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemptions therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time. This restriction shall not prevent the Fund from investing directly or indirectly in portfolio instruments secured by real estate or interests therein or acquiring securities of real estate investment trusts ("REITs") or other issuers that deal in real estate.

- (3) Invest in commodities or commodity contracts, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemptions therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (4) Act as underwriter of securities, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemptions therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.

- (5) Concentrate its investments in a particular industry or group of industries, as concentration is defined under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemption therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.
- (6) Borrow money or issue senior securities, except to the extent permitted under the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations thereunder or any exemptions therefrom, as such statute, rules or regulations may be amended or interpreted from time to time.

Notwithstanding any of the Fund's other fundamental investment restrictions (including, without limitation, those restrictions relating to industry concentration), the Fund may: (a) purchase securities of other investment companies to the full extent permitted under Section 12 or any other provision of the 1940 Act (or any successor provision thereto) or under any regulation or order of the SEC; and (b) invest all or substantially all of its assets in a single open-end investment company or series thereof with substantially the same investment objective, strategies and fundamental restrictions as the Fund.

The following investment limitations are non-fundamental policies and may be changed by the Board of Managers of the Fund (the "Board") with respect to the Fund without a vote of shareholders.

The Fund may not:

- (1) Pledge, mortgage or hypothecate assets, except to secure permitted borrowings or in relation to the deposit of assets in escrow in compliance with any rule or SEC staff interpretation thereunder. Securities held in escrow or separate accounts in connection with the Fund's investment practices described in this SAI and the Fund's Prospectus are not deemed to be mortgaged, pledged or hypothecated for purposes of the foregoing restrictions.
- (2) Purchase securities on margin or effect short sales, except that the Fund may: (i) obtain short-term credits as necessary for the clearance of security transactions; (ii) provide initial and variation margin payments in connection with transactions involving futures contracts and options on such contracts; and (iii) make short sales "against the box".
- (3) Purchase or hold illiquid investments, i.e., investments that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be disposed of in current market conditions in seven calendar days or less (which term includes repurchase agreements and time deposits maturing in more than seven days) without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment after reasonable inquiry and taking into account relevant market, trading, and investment-specific considerations if, immediately after the acquisition, more than 15% of its net assets would be invested in illiquid investments.
- (4) Purchase any securities that would cause more than 25% of the total assets of the Fund to be invested in the securities of one or more issuers conducting their principal business activities in the same industry, provided that this limitation does not apply to investments in obligations issued or guaranteed by the U.S. government, its agencies or instrumentalities.
- (5) Borrow money, except (a) the Fund may borrow from banks (as defined in the 1940 Act) or through reverse repurchase agreements in amounts up to 25% of the value of its total assets (including amounts borrowed), (b) the Fund may obtain such short-term credits as may be necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of portfolio securities; (c) the Fund may purchase securities on margin to the extent permitted by applicable law; and (d) the Fund may engage in transactions in mortgage dollar rolls which are accounted for as financings.
- (6) Make loans if, as a result, more than 25% of its total assets (including amounts borrowed) would be lent to other parties, except that the Fund may: (i) purchase or hold debt instruments in accordance with its investment objective and policies; (ii) enter into repurchase agreements; (iii) lend its securities; and (iv) loan to affiliates to the extent permitted by law.

The following descriptions from the 1940 Act may assist shareholders in understanding the above policies and restrictions.

Concentration. The SEC has presently defined concentration as investing 25% or more of an investment company's net assets in an industry or group of industries, with certain exceptions. In determining industry classification, the Fund may use the industry classification provided by a third-party service provider. For the purpose of determining the percentage of the Fund's total assets invested in securities of issuers having their principal business activities in a particular industry, an asset-backed security will be classified separately based on the nature of its underlying assets.

Borrowing. The 1940 Act presently allows the Fund to borrow from any bank (including pledging, mortgaging or hypothecating assets) in an amount up to 33 1/3% of its total assets, including the amount borrowed (not including temporary borrowings not in excess of 5% of its total assets).

Senior Securities. Senior securities may include any obligation or instrument issued by the Fund evidencing indebtedness. The Fund generally may not issue senior securities; however, this limitation is not applicable to activities that may be deemed to involve the issuance or sale of a senior security by the Fund, provided that the Fund's engagement in such activities is consistent with or permitted by the 1940 Act, the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder or interpretations of the SEC or its staff.

Lending. Under the 1940 Act, the Fund may only make loans if expressly permitted by its investment policies. The Fund's non-fundamental investment policies on lending are set forth above. As of the date of this SAI, the Fund does not engage in securities lending and the Fund may only lend securities in accordance with SEC staff guidance related to securities lending.

Underwriting. Under the 1940 Act, underwriting securities involves the Fund purchasing securities directly from an issuer for the purpose of selling (distributing) them or participating in any such activity either directly or indirectly. Under the 1940 Act, a diversified fund may not make any commitment as underwriter, if immediately thereafter the amount of its outstanding underwriting commitments, plus the value of its investments in securities of issuers (other than investment companies) of which it owns more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities, exceeds 25% of the value of its total assets.

Real Estate. The 1940 Act does not directly restrict the Fund's ability to invest in real estate, but does require that every fund have the Fundamental investment policy governing such investments. The Fund has adopted the Fundamental policy that would permit direct investment in real estate. However, the Fund has a non-fundamental investment limitation that prohibits it from investing directly in real estate. This non-fundamental policy may be changed only by vote of the Board.

Any investment limitation that involves a maximum percentage (other than the restriction set forth above with respect to borrowing money) will not be considered violated unless an excess over the percentage occurs immediately after, and is caused by, an acquisition of securities or assets of, or borrowings by, the Fund. The 1940 Act requires that if the asset coverage for borrowings at any time falls below 33-1/3% of its total assets (including the amount borrowed) plus an additional 5% of its total assets for temporary purposes, the Fund will, within three days thereafter (not including Sundays and holidays), reduce the amount of its borrowings to an extent that the net asset coverage of such borrowings shall conform to such limits.

Instruments in Which the Fund Can Invest

The following paragraphs provide a brief description of some of the types of securities in which the Fund may invest in accordance with its investment objectives, policies, and limitations. The Fund's investments in the following securities and other financial instruments are subject to the investment policies and limitations described in the Fund's Prospectus and this SAI. The following also contains a brief description of the risk factors related to these securities. The Fund may, following notice to its shareholders, take advantage of other investment practices which presently are not contemplated for use by the Fund or which currently is not available but which may be developed, to the extent such investment practices are both consistent with the Fund's investment objective and are legally permissible for the Fund. Such investment practices, if they arise, may involve risks which exceed those involved in the activities described in the Fund's Prospectus and this SAI.

AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS ("ADRs"). The Fund may invest in ADRs. ADRs are receipts that are traded in the United States evidencing ownership of the underlying foreign securities and are denominated in U.S. dollars. In addition to investment risks associated with the underlying issuer, ADRs expose the Fund to additional risk associated with non-uniform terms that apply to ADR programs, credit exposure to the depository bank and to the sponsors and other parties with whom the depository bank establishes the programs, currency risk and liquidity risk. Some institutions issuing ADRs may not be sponsored by the issuer. Unsponsored programs generally expose investors to greater risks than sponsored programs and do not provide holders with many of the shareholder benefits that come from investing in a sponsored ADR. Available information concerning the issuer may not be as current as for sponsored ADRs and the prices of unsponsored ADRs may be more volatile than if such instruments were sponsored by the issuer. ADRs are generally subject to the same risks as the foreign securities that they evidence or into which they may be converted.

A non-sponsored depository may not provide the same shareholder information that a sponsored depository is required to provide under its contractual arrangement with the issuer.

BORROWINGS. The Fund may engage in borrowing transactions as a means of raising cash to satisfy redemption requests, for other temporary or emergency purposes or, to the extent permitted by its investment policies, to raise additional cash to be invested in other securities or instruments in an effort to increase the Fund's investment returns. Reverse repurchase agreements may be considered to be a type of borrowing.

When the Fund invests borrowing proceeds in other securities, the Fund will be at risk for any fluctuations in the market value of the securities in which the proceeds are invested. Like other leveraging risks, this makes the value of an investment in the Fund more volatile and increases the Fund's overall investment exposure. In addition, if the Fund's return on its investment of the borrowing proceeds does not equal or exceed the interest that the Fund is obligated to pay under the terms of a borrowing, engaging in these transactions will lower the Fund's return.

The Fund may be required to liquidate portfolio securities at a time when it would be disadvantageous to do so in order to make payments with respect to its borrowing obligations. This could adversely affect the Fund's strategy and result in lower returns. Interest on any borrowings will be at the Fund's expense and will reduce the value of the Fund's shares. The Fund may borrow on a secured or on an unsecured basis. If the Fund enters into a secured borrowing arrangement, a portion of the Fund's assets will be used as collateral. During the term of the borrowing, the Fund will remain at risk for any fluctuations in the market value of these assets in addition to any securities purchased with the proceeds of the loan. In addition, the Fund may be unable to sell the collateral at a time when it would be advantageous to do so, which could adversely affect the Fund's strategy and result in lower returns. The Fund would also be subject to the risk that the lender may file for bankruptcy, become insolvent, or otherwise default on its obligations to return the collateral to the Fund. In the event of a default by the lender, there may be delays, costs and risks of loss involved in the Fund's exercising its rights with respect to the collateral or those rights may be limited by other contractual agreements or obligations or by applicable law.

COMMERCIAL PAPER, BANKERS' ACCEPTANCES, CERTIFICATES OF DEPOSIT, TIME DEPOSITS AND BANK NOTES.

The Fund may invest in commercial paper. Commercial paper represents short-term unsecured promissory notes issued in bearer form by banks or bank holding companies, corporations and finance companies. Certificates of deposit are negotiable certificates issued against funds deposited in a commercial bank for a definite period of time and earning a specified return. Bankers' acceptances are negotiable drafts or bills of exchange, normally drawn by an importer or exporter to pay for specific merchandise, which are "accepted" by a bank, meaning, in effect, that the bank unconditionally agrees to pay the face value of the instrument on maturity. Fixed time deposits are bank obligations payable at a stated maturity date and bearing interest at a fixed rate.

Fixed time deposits may be withdrawn on demand by the investor, but they may be subject to early withdrawal penalties that vary depending upon market conditions and the remaining maturity of the obligation. There are no contractual restrictions on the right to transfer a beneficial interest in a fixed time deposit to a third party. Bank notes generally rank junior to deposit liabilities of banks and pari passu with other senior, unsecured obligations of the bank. Bank notes are classified as "other borrowings" on a bank's balance sheet, while deposit notes and certificates of deposit are classified as deposits. Bank notes are not insured by the FDIC or any other insurer. Deposit notes are insured by the FDIC only to the extent of \$250,000 per depositor per bank.

The Fund may invest a portion of its assets in the obligations of foreign banks and foreign branches of domestic banks. Such obligations include Eurodollar Certificates of Deposit ("ECDs"), which are U.S. dollar-denominated certificates of deposit issued by offices of foreign and domestic banks located outside the United States; Eurodollar Time Deposits ("ETDs"), which are U.S. dollar-denominated deposits in a foreign branch of a U.S. bank or a foreign bank; Canadian Time Deposits ("CTDs"), which are essentially the same as ETDs except they are issued by Canadian offices of major Canadian banks; Schedule Bs, which are obligations issued by Canadian branches of foreign or domestic banks; Yankee Certificates of Deposit ("Yankee CDs"), which are U.S. dollar-denominated certificates of deposit issued by a U.S. branch of a foreign bank and held in the United States; and Yankee Bankers' Acceptances ("Yankee BAs"), which are U.S. dollar-denominated bankers' acceptances issued by a U.S. branch of a foreign bank and held in the United States.

Commercial paper is generally unsecured and usually discounted from its value at maturity. The value of commercial paper may be affected by changes in the credit rating or financial condition of the issuing entities and will tend to fall when interest rates rise and rise when interest rates fall. Investments in commercial paper are subject to the risk that the issuer cannot issue enough new commercial paper to satisfy its obligations with respect to its outstanding commercial paper, also known as rollover risk. Commercial paper is also susceptible to changes in the issuer's financial condition or credit quality. In addition, under certain circumstances commercial paper may become illiquid or may suffer from reduced liquidity. Commercial paper purchased by the Fund may include asset-backed commercial paper. Asset-backed commercial paper is issued by a Special Purpose Entity that is organized to issue the commercial paper and to purchase trade receivables or other financial assets. The credit quality of asset-backed commercial paper depends primarily on the quality of these assets and the level of any additional credit support. The repayment of asset-backed commercial paper depends primarily on the cash collections received from such an issuer's underlying asset portfolio and the issuer's ability to issue new asset-backed commercial paper.

Since the Fund may hold investments in non-U.S. bank obligations, an investment in the Fund involves certain additional risks. Such investment risks include future political and economic developments, the possible imposition of non-U.S. withholding taxes on interest income payable on such obligations held by the Fund, the possible seizure or nationalization of non-U.S. deposits and the possible establishment of exchange controls or other non-U.S. governmental laws or restrictions applicable to the payment of the principal of and interest on certificates of deposit or fixed time deposits that might affect adversely such payment on such obligations held by the Fund. Additionally, there may be less public information available about non-U.S. entities. Non-U.S. issuers may be subject to less governmental regulation and supervision than U.S. issuers. Non-U.S. issuers also generally are not bound by uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting requirements comparable to those applicable to U.S. issuers. See also "Foreign Investments—General."

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES. The Fund may invest in convertible securities. Convertible securities entitle the holder to receive interest paid or accrued on debt or the dividend paid on preferred stock until the convertible securities mature or are redeemed, converted or exchanged. Prior to conversion, convertible securities have characteristics similar to ordinary debt securities in that they normally provide a stable stream of income with generally higher yields than those of common stock of the same or similar issuers. Convertible securities are usually subordinated to comparable-tier non-convertible securities but rank senior to common stock in a corporation's capital structure and, therefore, generally entail less risk than the corporation's common stock, although the extent to which such risk is reduced depends in large measure upon the degree to which the convertible security sells above its value as a fixed-income security.

The value of convertible securities is a function of their investment value (determined by yield in comparison with the yields of other securities of comparable maturity and quality that do not have a conversion privilege) and their conversion value (their worth, at market value, if converted into the underlying common stock). The investment value of convertible securities is influenced by changes in interest rates, with investment value declining as interest rates increase and increasing as interest rates decline, and by the credit standing of the issuer and other factors. The conversion value of convertible securities is determined by the market price of the underlying common stock. If the conversion value is low relative to the investment value, the price of the convertible securities is governed principally by their investment value. To the extent the market price of the underlying common stock approaches or exceeds the conversion price, the price of the convertible securities will be increasingly influenced by their conversion value. In addition, convertible securities generally sell at a premium over their conversion value determined by the extent to which investors place value on the right to acquire the underlying common stock while holding fixed-income securities.

In addition, a convertible security may be subject to redemption at the option of the issuer at a price established in the convertible security's governing instrument. If a convertible security held by the Fund is called for redemption, the Fund would be required to (i) permit the issuer to redeem the security, (ii) convert it into the underlying common stock or (iii) sell it to a third party. Any of the actions could have an adverse effect on the Fund's ability to achieve its investment objective.

In general, investments in lower-quality convertible securities are subject to a significant risk of a change in the credit rating or financial condition of the issuing entity. Investments in convertible securities of medium or lower-quality also are likely to be subject to greater market fluctuation and to greater risk of loss of income and principal due to default than investments of higher-quality fixed-income securities. Such lower-quality securities generally tend to reflect short-term corporate and market developments to a greater extent than higher-quality securities, which react more to fluctuations in the general level of interest rates. By investing in convertible securities, the Fund generally will seek to reduce risk to the investor by diversification, credit analysis and attention to current developments in trends of both the economy and financial markets. However, while diversification reduces the effect on the Fund of any single investment, it does not reduce the overall risk of investing in lower-quality securities.

CURRENCY SWAPS. The Fund may enter into currency swap transactions for hedging purposes. These instruments are privately negotiated over-the-counter derivative products. A great deal of flexibility is possible in the way these instruments are structured. Currency swaps involve the exchange of the rights of the Fund and another party to make or receive payments in specific currencies.

Currency swaps usually involve the delivery of the entire principal amount of one designated currency in exchange for the other designated currency. Therefore, the entire principal value of a currency swap is subject to the risk that the other party to the swap will default on its contractual delivery obligations. To the extent that the amount payable by the Fund under a swap is covered by segregated cash or liquid assets, the Fund and the Adviser believes that transactions do not constitute senior securities under the 1940 Act and, accordingly, will not treat them as being subject to the Fund's borrowing restrictions.

The Fund will not enter into a currency swap unless the unsecured commercial paper, senior debt or the claims-paying ability of the other party thereto is rated either A or A-1 or better by Standard & Poor's® Global Ratings ("S&P") or Fitch Ratings ("Fitch"), or A or Prime-1 or better by Moody's Investor Services, Inc. ("Moody's") or a comparable rating from another organization that is recognized as a nationally recognized statistical rating organization ("NRSRO") or, if unrated by such rating organization, is determined to be of comparable quality by the Adviser. If there is a default by the other party to such transaction, the Fund will have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction. The use of currency swaps is a highly specialized activity that involves investment techniques and risks different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions. If the Adviser is incorrect in their forecasts of currency exchange rates the investment performance of the Fund would be less favorable than it would have been if this investment technique were not used. For a description of Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC") regulations affecting swap transactions and certain other derivatives, see "Futures Contracts and Related Options."

CUSTODIAL RECEIPTS FOR TREASURY SECURITIES. The Fund may acquire U.S. government obligations and their unmatured interest coupons that have been separated ("stripped") by their holder, typically a custodian bank or investment brokerage firm. Having separated the interest coupons from the underlying principal of the U.S. government obligations, the holder will resell the stripped securities in custodial receipt programs with a number of different names, such as TIGRs (Treasury Income Growth Receipts) and CATS (Certificates of Accrual on Treasury Securities). The stripped coupons are sold separately from the underlying principal, which usually is sold at a deep discount because the buyer receives only the right to receive a future fixed payment on the security and does not receive any rights to periodic interest (cash) payments. The underlying U.S. Treasury bonds and notes themselves are held in book-entry form at the Federal Reserve Bank or, in the case of bearer securities (i.e., unregistered securities, which are ostensibly owned by the bearer or holder), in trust on behalf of the owners. Counsel to the underwriters of these certificates or other evidences of ownership of U.S. Treasury securities have stated that, in their opinion, purchasers of the stripped securities most likely will be deemed the beneficial holders of the underlying U.S. government obligations for federal tax purposes. The Fund is unaware of any binding legislative, judicial or administrative authority on this issue. Custodial receipts may not be considered obligations of the U.S. government or other issuer of the security held by the custodian for the purposes of securities laws. If for tax purposes the Fund is not considered to be the owner of the securities held in the underlying trust or custodial account, the Fund may suffer adverse tax consequences. As a holder of custodial receipts, the Fund will bear its proportionate share of the fees or expenses charged to the custodial account.

CYBERSECURITY RISK. With the increased use of technologies such as mobile devices and Web-based or "cloud" applications, and the dependence on the Internet and computer systems to conduct business, the Fund is susceptible to operational, information security and related risks. In general, cybersecurity incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events (arising from external or internal sources) that may cause the Fund to lose proprietary information, suffer data corruption, physical damage to a computer or network system or lose operational capacity. Cybersecurity attacks include, but are not limited to, infection by malicious software, such as malware or computer viruses or gaining unauthorized access to digital systems, networks or devices that are used to service the Fund's operations (e.g., through "hacking," "phishing" or malicious software coding) or other means for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. Cybersecurity attacks may also be carried out in a manner that does not require gaining unauthorized access, such as causing denial-of-service attacks on the Fund's websites (i.e., efforts to make network services unavailable to intended users). In addition, authorized persons could inadvertently or intentionally release confidential or proprietary information stored on the Fund's systems.

Cybersecurity incidents affecting the Adviser, other service providers (including, but not limited to, the administrator, custodian, subcustodians, transfer agent and financial intermediaries) or the Fund's shareholders have the ability to cause disruptions and impact business operations, potentially resulting in financial losses to both the Fund and their shareholders, interference with the Fund's ability to calculate its Net Asset Values ("NAV"), impediments to trading, the inability of Fund shareholders to transact business and the Fund to process transactions (including fulfillment of Fund share purchases and redemptions), violations of applicable privacy and other laws (including the release of private shareholder information) and attendant breach notification and credit monitoring costs, regulatory fines, penalties, litigation costs, reputational damage, reimbursement or other compensation costs, forensic investigation and remediation costs, and/or additional compliance costs. Similar adverse consequences could result from cybersecurity incidents affecting issuers of securities in which the Fund invests, counterparties with which the Fund engages in transactions, governmental and other regulatory authorities, exchange and other financial market operators, banks, brokers, dealers, insurance companies and other

financial institutions (including financial intermediaries and other service providers) and other parties. In addition, substantial costs may be incurred in order to safeguard against and reduce the risk of any cybersecurity incidents in the future. In addition to administrative, technological and procedural safeguards, the Adviser has established business continuity plans in the event of, and risk management systems to prevent or reduce the impact of, such cybersecurity incidents. However, there are inherent limitations in such plans and systems, including the possibility that certain risks have not been identified, as well as the rapid development of new threats. Furthermore, the Fund and the Adviser have limited ability to prevent or mitigate cybersecurity incidents affecting third-party service providers, and such third-party service providers may have limited indemnification obligations to the Fund or its investment adviser, and the Fund cannot control the cybersecurity plans and systems put in place by their service providers or any other third parties whose operations may affect the Fund or its shareholders. The Fund and its shareholders could be negatively impacted as a result.

DERIVATIVES. The SEC has adopted new regulations under the 1940 Act governing the use of derivatives by registered investment companies ("Rule 18f-4"). Rule 18f-4 imposes limits on the notional amount of derivatives into which the Fund can enter, treats derivatives as senior securities and, if the Fund's exposure to derivatives is more than a limited specified exposure amount, requires the Fund to maintain a comprehensive derivatives risk management program and appoint a derivatives risk manager. These requirements may limit the ability of the Fund to use derivatives and reverse repurchase agreements and similar financing transactions as part of its investment strategies, which may increase the cost of the Fund's investments and cost of doing business and adversely affect shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED NOTES. An equity-linked note ("ELN") is a debt instrument whose value is based on the value of a single equity security, basket of equity securities or an index of equity securities (each, an "Underlying Equity"). An ELN typically provides interest income, thereby offering a yield advantage over investing directly in an Underlying Equity. The Fund may purchase ELNs that trade on a securities exchange or those that trade on the over-the-counter markets, including Rule 144A securities. The Fund may also purchase ELNs in a privately negotiated transaction with the issuer of the ELNs (or its broker-dealer affiliate). The Fund may or may not hold an ELN until its maturity.

Equity-linked securities also include issues such as Structured Yield Product Exchangeable for Stock ("STRYPES"), Trust Automatic Common Exchange Securities ("TRACES"), Trust Issued Mandatory Exchange Securities ("TIMES") and Trust Enhanced Dividend Securities ("TRENDS"). The issuers of these equity-linked securities generally purchase and hold a portion of stripped U.S. Treasury securities maturing on a quarterly basis through the conversion date, and a forward purchase contract with an existing shareholder of the company relating to the common stock. Quarterly distributions on such equity-linked securities generally consist of the cash received from the U.S. Treasury securities and such equity-linked securities generally are not entitled to any dividends that may be declared on the common stock.

ELNs also include participation notes issued by a bank or broker-dealer that entitles the Fund to a return measured by the change in value of an Underlying Equity. Participation notes are typically used when a direct investment in the Underlying Equity is restricted due to country- specific regulations. Investment in a participation note is the same as investment in the constituent shares of the company (or other issuer type) to which the Underlying Equity is economically tied. A participation note represents only an obligation of the company or other issuer type to provide the Fund the economic performance equivalent to holding shares of the Underlying Equity. A participation note does not provide any beneficial or equitable entitlement or interest in the relevant Underlying Equity. In other words, shares of the Underlying Equity are not in any way owned by the Fund.

EQUITY SECURITIES. The Fund invests primarily in equity securities. "Equity securities" include common stocks, preferred stocks, investment companies including exchange-traded funds ("ETFs"), interests in REITs, convertible securities, equity interests in trusts, partnerships, joint ventures, limited liability companies and similar enterprises, warrants, stock purchase rights and synthetic and derivative instruments that have economic characteristics similar to equity securities.

Investing in equity securities involves market risk. Market risk is the risk that the value of the Fund's investments may increase or decrease in response to expected, real or perceived economic, political or financial events in the U.S. or global markets. The frequency and magnitude of such changes in value cannot be predicted. Certain securities and other investments held by the Fund may experience increased volatility, illiquidity, or other potentially adverse effects in response to changing market conditions, inflation, changes in interest rates, lack of liquidity in the bond or equity markets, volatility in the equity markets, market disruptions caused by local or regional events such as war, acts of terrorism, the spread of infectious illness (including epidemics or pandemics) or other public health issues, recessions or other events or adverse investor sentiment or other political, regulatory, economic and social developments, and developments that impact specific economic sectors, industries or segments of the market. These risks may be magnified if certain events or developments adversely interrupt the global supply chain; in these and other circumstances, such risks might affect companies worldwide due to increasingly interconnected global economies and financial markets. Market risk includes the risk that a particular style of investing, such as growth or value, may underperform the market generally.

Over the past several years, stock markets have experienced substantial price volatility. Growth stocks are generally more sensitive to market movements than other types of stocks and their stock prices may therefore be more volatile and present a higher degree of risk of loss. Value stocks, on the other hand, may fall out of favor with investors and underperform growth stocks during any given period. Stock prices may fluctuate from time to time in response to the activities of individual companies and in response to general market and economic conditions. Individual companies may report poor results or be negatively affected by industry trends and developments, and the stock prices of such companies may decline in response.

EQUITY SWAPS. The Fund may enter into equity swap contracts to invest in a market without owning or taking physical custody of securities in circumstances in which direct investment is restricted for legal reasons or is otherwise impracticable. Equity swaps also may be used for hedging purposes, in anticipation of the purchase of securities or for liquidity management purposes. The counterparty to an equity swap contract will typically be a bank, investment banking firm or broker/dealer. Equity swap contracts may be structured in different ways. For example, a counterparty may agree to pay the Fund the amount, if any, by which the notional amount of the equity swap contract would have increased in value had it been invested in particular stocks (or an index of stocks), plus the dividends that would have been received on those stocks. In these cases, the Fund may agree to pay to the counterparty the amount, if any, by which that notional amount would have decreased in value had it been invested in the stocks. Therefore, the return to the Fund on any equity swap contract should be the gain or loss on the notional amount plus dividends on the stocks less the interest paid by the Fund on the notional amount. In other cases, the counterparty and the Fund may each agree to pay the other the difference between the relative investment performances that would have been achieved if the notional amount of the equity swap contract had been invested in different stocks (or indices of stocks).

The Fund will enter into equity swaps only on a net basis, which means that the two payment streams are netted out, with the Fund receiving or paying, as the case may be, only the net amount of the two payments. Payments may be made at the conclusion of an equity swap contract or periodically during its term. Equity swaps do not involve the delivery of securities or other underlying assets. Accordingly, the risk of loss with respect to equity swaps is limited to the net amount of payments that the Fund is contractually obligated to make. If the other party to an equity swap defaults, the Fund's risk of loss consists of the net amount of payments that the Fund is contractually entitled to receive, if any. Inasmuch as these transactions are entered into for hedging purposes or are offset by segregated cash or liquid assets to cover the Fund's obligations, the Fund and the Adviser believe that such transactions do not constitute senior securities under the 1940 Act and, accordingly, will not treat them as being subject to the Fund's borrowing restrictions.

The Fund will not enter into any swap transactions unless the unsecured commercial paper, senior debt or claims-paying ability of the other party is rated either A, or A-1 or better by S&P, or Fitch; or A or Prime-1 or better by Moody's, or has received a comparable rating from another organization that is recognized as an NRSRO. If there is a default by the other party to such a transaction, the Fund will have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction.

The use of equity swaps is a highly specialized activity, which involves investment techniques and risks different from those associated with ordinary portfolio securities transactions. If the Adviser is incorrect in its forecasts of market values, the investment performance of the Fund would be less favorable than it would have been if this investment technique were not used. For a description of CFTC regulations affecting swap transactions and certain other derivatives, see "Futures Contracts and Related Options."

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS. In order to protect against a possible loss on investments resulting from a decline or appreciation in the value of a particular foreign currency against the U.S. dollar or another foreign currency or for other reasons, the Fund is authorized to enter into forward foreign currency exchange contracts. These contracts involve an obligation to purchase or sell a specified currency at a future date at a price set at the time of the contract. Forward currency contracts do not eliminate fluctuations in the values of portfolio securities but rather allow the Fund to establish a rate of exchange for a future point in time.

When entering into a contract for the purchase or sale of a security, the Fund may enter into a forward foreign currency exchange contract for the amount of the purchase or sale price to protect against variations, between the date the security is purchased or sold and the date on which payment is made or received, in the value of the foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar or other foreign currency.

When the Adviser anticipates that a particular foreign currency may decline relative to the U.S. dollar or other leading currencies, in order to reduce risk, the Fund may enter into a forward contract to sell, for a fixed amount, the amount of foreign currency approximating the value of some or all of the Fund's securities denominated in such foreign currency. Similarly, when the securities held by the Fund create a short position in a foreign currency, the Fund may enter into a forward contract to buy, for a fixed amount, an amount of foreign currency approximating the short position. With respect to any forward foreign currency contract, it generally will not be possible to match precisely the amount covered by that contract and the value of the securities involved due to the changes in the values of such securities resulting from market movements between the date the forward contract is entered into and the date it matures. In addition, while forward contracts may offer protection from losses resulting from declines or appreciation in the value of a particular foreign currency, they also limit potential gains, which might result from changes in the value of such currency. The Fund also may incur costs in connection with forward foreign currency exchange contracts and conversions of foreign currencies and U.S. dollars.

In addition, to the extent consistent with its investment objective and strategies, the Fund may purchase or sell forward foreign currency exchange contracts to seek to increase total return or for cross-hedging purposes and may engage in cross-hedging by using forward contracts in one currency to hedge against fluctuations in the value of securities denominated in a different currency if the investment management team believes that there is a pattern of correlation between the two currencies.

FOREIGN INVESTMENTS—GENERAL. The Fund intends to invest a portion of its assets in foreign issuers. Investment in foreign securities involves special risks. These include market risk, interest rate risk and the risks of investing in securities of foreign issuers and of companies whose securities are principally traded outside the United States on foreign exchanges or foreign over-the-counter markets and in investments denominated in foreign currencies. Market risk involves the possibility that security prices will decline over short or even extended periods. The markets tend to be cyclical, with periods of generally rising prices and periods of generally declining prices. These cycles will affect the value of the Fund to the extent that it invests in foreign securities. The holdings of the Fund, to the extent that it invests in fixed-income securities, will be sensitive to changes in interest rates and the interest rate environment. Generally, the prices of bonds and debt securities fluctuate inversely with interest rate changes. In addition, the performance of investments in securities denominated in a foreign currency will depend on the strength of the foreign currency against the U.S. dollar and the interest rate environment in the country issuing the currency. Absent other events which could otherwise affect the value of a foreign security (such as a change in the political climate or an issuer's credit quality), appreciation in the value of the foreign currency-denominated security in terms of U.S. dollars. A rise in foreign interest rates or decline in the value of the foreign currency relative to the U.S. dollar generally can be expected to depress the value of a foreign currency-denominated security.

There are other risks and costs involved in investing in foreign securities which are in addition to the usual risks inherent in domestic investments. Investment in foreign securities involves higher costs than investment in U.S. securities, including higher transaction and custody costs as well as the imposition of additional taxes by foreign governments. Foreign investments also involve risks associated with the level of currency exchange rates, less complete financial information about the issuers, less market liquidity, more market volatility and political instability. Future political, financial, social and economic developments in foreign counties (including, for example, military confrontations, war and terrorism), the possible imposition of withholding taxes on dividend income, the possible seizure or nationalization of foreign holdings, the possible establishment of exchange controls, trade restrictions (including tariffs) or the adoption of other governmental restrictions might adversely affect an investment in foreign securities. Additionally, foreign banks and foreign branches of domestic banks are subject to less stringent reserve requirements, and to different accounting, auditing and recordkeeping requirements. Also, the legal remedies for investors may be more limited than the remedies available in the United States. Additionally, many countries throughout the world are dependent on a healthy U.S. economy and are adversely affected when the U.S. economy weakens or its markets decline. For example, the decline in the U.S. subprime mortgage market quickly spread throughout global credit markets, triggering a liquidity crisis that affected fixed-income and equity markets around the world.

The energy, materials and agriculture sectors may account for a large portion of a foreign country's exports. Any changes in these sectors or fluctuations in the commodity markets could have an adverse impact on a country's economy. Commodity prices may be influenced or characterized by unpredictable factors, including where applicable, high volatility, changes in supply and demand relationships, weather, agriculture, trade, pestilence, changes in interest rates and monetary and other governmental policies, action and inaction. Securities of companies held by the Fund that are dependent on a single commodity, or are concentrated in a single commodity sector, may typically exhibit even higher volatility attributable to commodity prices.

European countries can be affected by the significant fiscal and monetary controls that the European Economic and Monetary Union ("EMU") imposes for membership. Europe's economies are diverse, its governments are decentralized, and its cultures vary widely. Several European Union ("EU") countries, including Greece, Ireland, Italy, Spain and Portugal, have faced budget issues, some of which may have negative long-term effects for the economies of those countries and other EU countries. There is continued concern about national-level support for the euro and the accompanying coordination of fiscal and wage policy among EMU member countries. Member countries are required to maintain tight control over inflation, public debt, and budget deficit to qualify for membership in the EMU. These requirements can severely limit the ability of EMU member countries to implement monetary policy to address regional economic conditions.

In June 2016, the United Kingdom ("UK") approved a referendum to leave the European Union ("EU"). The withdrawal, known colloquially as "Brexit", was agreed to and ratified by the UK Parliament, and the UK left the EU on January 31, 2020. It began an 11-month transition period in which to negotiate a new trading relationship for goods and services that ended on December 31, 2020. The UK and EU reached an agreement, effective January 1, 2021, on the terms of their future trading relationship, which principally relates to the trading of goods. Further discussions are to be held between the UK and the EU in relation to matters not covered by the trade agreement, such as financial services. Brexit may have significant political and financial consequences for the Eurozone markets, including greater volatility in the global stock markets and illiquidity, fluctuations in currency and exchange rates, and an increased likelihood of a recession in the UK. At this time, the impact of Brexit cannot be predicted; however, market disruption in the EU and globally may have a negative effect on the value of the Fund's investments. Additionally, the risks related to Brexit could be more pronounced if one or more additional EU member states seek to leave the EU.

Other economic challenges facing Europe include high levels of public debt, significant rates of unemployment, aging populations, mass migrations from the Middle East and Africa and heavy regulation in certain economic sectors. European governments have taken unprecedented steps to respond to the economic crises and to boost growth in the region, which has increased the risk that regulatory uncertainty could negatively affect the Fund's investments. In addition, Ukraine has experienced an ongoing military conflict; this conflict may expand and military attacks could occur in Europe. The ultimate effects of these events and other socio- political or geopolitical issues are not known but could profoundly affect global economies and markets. The impact of these actions, especially if they occur in a disorderly fashion, is not clear but could be significant and far-reaching.

Many non-governmental issuers, and even certain governments, have defaulted on, or been forced to restructure, their debts; many other issuers have faced difficulties obtaining credit or refinancing existing obligations; financial institutions have in many cases required government or central bank support, have needed to raise capital, and/or have been impaired in their ability to extend credit; and financial markets in Europe and elsewhere have experienced extreme volatility and declines in asset values and liquidity. These difficulties may continue, worsen or spread within and without Europe. Responses to the financial problems by European governments, central banks and others, including austerity measures and reforms, may not work, may result in social unrest and may limit future growth and economic recovery or have other unintended consequences. Further defaults or restructurings by governments and others of their debt could have additional adverse effects on economies, financial markets and asset valuations around the world.

To the extent consistent with its investment objective and strategies, the Fund may invest in foreign debt, including the securities of foreign governments. Several risks exist concerning such investments, including the risk that foreign governments may default on their obligations, may not respect the integrity of such debt, may attempt to renegotiate the debt at a lower rate, and may not honor investments by U.S. entities or citizens.

Although the Fund may invest in securities denominated in foreign currencies, its portfolio securities and other assets are valued in U.S. dollars. Currency exchange rates may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time causing, together with other factors, the Fund's NAV to fluctuate as well. Currency exchange rates can be affected unpredictably by the intervention or the failure to intervene by U.S. or foreign governments or central banks, or by currency controls or political developments in the United States or abroad. To the extent that the Fund's total assets, adjusted to reflect the Fund's net position after giving effect to currency transactions, are denominated in the currencies of foreign countries, the Fund will be more susceptible to the risk of adverse economic and political developments within those countries.

Dividends and interest payable on the Fund's foreign portfolio securities may be subject to foreign withholding taxes. To the extent such taxes are not offset by credits or deductions allowed to investors under Puerto Rico income tax law, they may reduce the net return to the shareholders. See "Taxes."

The Fund's income and, in some cases, capital gains from foreign stocks and securities will be subject to applicable taxation in certain of the countries in which they invest, and there are no treaties between Puerto Rico and foreign countries that will reduce the otherwise applicable tax rates. See "Taxes."

The Fund also is subject to the possible imposition of exchange control regulations or freezes on the convertibility of currency. In addition, through the use of forward currency exchange contracts with other instruments, the respective net currency positions of the Fund may expose it to risks independent of its securities positions. Although the net long and short foreign currency exposure of the Fund will not exceed its respective total asset values, to the extent that the Fund is fully invested in foreign securities while also maintaining currency positions, it may be exposed to greater risk than it would have if it did not maintain the currency positions.

Investors should understand that the expense ratios of the Fund can be expected to be higher than those funds investing primarily in domestic securities. The costs attributable to investing abroad usually are higher for several reasons, such as the higher cost of investment research, higher costs of custody of foreign securities, higher commissions paid on comparable transactions on foreign markets and additional costs arising from delays in settlements of transactions involving foreign securities.

The Fund's foreign securities are generally held outside the United States in the primary market for the securities in the custody of certain eligible foreign banks and trust companies, as permitted under the 1940 Act ("foreign sub-custodians"). Settlement practices for foreign securities may differ from those in the United States. Some foreign sub-custodians may be recently organized or new to the foreign custody business. Some countries have limited governmental oversight and regulation of industry practices, stock exchanges, depositories, registrars, brokers and listed companies, which increases the risk of corruption and fraud and the possibility of losses to the Fund. Further, the laws of certain countries may place limitations on the Fund's ability to recover its assets if a foreign subcustodian enters bankruptcy. Under certain circumstances, foreign securities may settle on a delayed delivery basis, meaning that the Fund may be required to make payment for securities before the Fund has actually received delivery of the securities or deliver securities prior to the receipt of payment. Typically, in these cases, the Fund will receive evidence of ownership in accordance with the generally accepted settlement practices in the local market entitling the Fund to deliver payment at a future date, but there is a risk that the security will not be delivered to the Fund or that payment will not be received, although the Fund and its foreign sub-custodians take reasonable precautions to mitigate this risk.

Foreign markets also have different clearance and settlement procedures, and in certain markets there have been times when settlements have been unable to keep pace with the volume of securities transactions, making it difficult to conduct such transactions. Such delays in settlement could result in temporary periods when a portion of the assets of the Fund remain uninvested and no return is earned on such assets. The inability of the Fund to make intended security purchases or sales due to settlement problems could result in missed attractive investment opportunities, losses to the Fund due to subsequent declines in value of the portfolio securities or, if the Fund has entered into a contract to sell the securities, possible liability to the purchaser. Losses can also result from lost, stolen or counterfeit securities; defaults by brokers and banks; failures or defects of the settlement system; or poor and improper record keeping by registrars and issuers.

Share blocking refers to a practice in certain foreign markets under which an issuer's securities are blocked from trading at the custodian or sub-custodian level for a specified number of days before and, in certain instances, after a shareholder meeting where a vote of shareholders takes place. The blocking period can last up to several weeks. Share blocking may prevent the Fund from buying or selling securities during this period, because during the time shares are blocked, trades in such securities will not settle. It may be difficult or impossible to lift blocking restrictions, with the particular requirements varying widely by country.

FOREIGN INVESTMENTS—EMERGING AND FRONTIER MARKETS. The Fund may also invest in countries with emerging economies or securities markets. Emerging and frontier market countries are generally located in the Asia and Pacific regions, the Middle East, Eastern Europe, Central America, South America and Africa. Political and economic structures in many of these countries may be undergoing significant evolution and rapid development, and these countries may lack the social, political and economic stability characteristics of more developed countries.

In general, the securities markets of emerging and frontier countries are less liquid, subject to greater price volatility and have a smaller market capitalization than the U.S. securities markets. In certain countries, there may be fewer publicly traded securities and the market may be dominated by a few issues or sectors. Issuers and securities markets in such countries are not subject to as extensive and frequent accounting, financial and other reporting requirements or as comprehensive government regulations as are issuers and securities markets in the United States. In particular, the assets and profits appearing on the financial statements of emerging and frontier country issuers may not reflect their financial position or results of operations in the same manner as financial statements for U.S. issuers. Substantially less information may be publicly available about emerging and frontier country issuers than is available about issuers in the United States.

Emerging and frontier country securities markets are typically marked by a high concentration of market capitalization and trading volume in a small number of issuers representing a limited number of industries, as well as a high concentration of ownership of such securities by a limited number of investors. The markets for securities in certain emerging and frontier countries are in the earliest stages of their development. Even the markets for relatively widely traded securities in emerging and frontier countries may not be able to absorb, without price disruptions, a significant increase in trading volume or trades of a size customarily undertaken by institutional investors in the securities markets of developed countries. The limited size of many of these securities markets can cause prices to be erratic for reasons apart from factors that affect the soundness and competitiveness of the securities issuers. For example, prices may be unduly influenced by traders who control large positions in these markets. Additionally, market making and arbitrage activities are generally less extensive in such markets, which may contribute to increased volatility and reduced liquidity of such markets. The limited liquidity of emerging and frontier country securities may also affect the Fund's ability to accurately value its portfolio securities or to acquire or dispose of securities at the price and time it wishes to do so or in order to meet redemption requests.

Certain emerging and frontier market countries may have antiquated legal systems, which may adversely impact the Fund. For example, while the potential liability of a shareholder in a U.S. corporation with respect to acts of the corporation is generally limited to the amount of the shareholder's investment, the notion of limited liability is less clear in certain emerging and frontier market countries. Similarly, the rights of investors in emerging and frontier market companies may be more limited than those of shareholders in U.S. corporations. In addition, the systems of corporate governance to which issuers in certain emerging and frontier countries are subject may be less advanced than the systems to which issuers located in more developed countries are subject, and therefore, shareholders of such issuers may not receive many of the protections available to shareholders of issuers located in more developed countries.

Because of the recent formation of the Russian securities markets, the underdeveloped state of Russia's banking and telecommunication system and the legal and regulatory framework in Russia, settlement, clearing and registration of securities transactions are subject to additional risks. Prior to 2013, there was no central registration system for equity share registration in Russia and registration was carried out either by the issuers themselves or by registrars located throughout Russia. These registrars may not have been subject to effective state supervision or licensed with any governmental entity. In 2013, Russia established the National Settlement Depository ("NSD") as a recognized central securities depository, and title to Russian equities is now based on the records of the NSD and not on the records of local registrars. The implementation of the NSD is generally expected to decrease the risk of loss in connection with recording and transferring title to securities; however, loss may still occur. Additionally, issuers and registrars remain prominent in the validation and approval of documentation requirements for corporate action processing in Russia, and there remain inconsistent market standards in the Russian market with respect to the completion and submission of corporate action elections. To the extent that the Fund suffers a loss relating to title or corporate actions relating to its portfolio securities, it may be difficult for the Fund to enforce its rights or otherwise remedy the loss.

The United States, the EU and other countries have imposed economic sanctions on certain Russian individuals and Russian corporations. Additional broader sanctions may be imposed in the future. These sanctions, or even the threat of further sanctions, may result in the decline of the value and liquidity of Russian securities, a weakening of the ruble or other adverse consequences to the Russian economy. These sanctions could also result in the immediate freeze of Russian securities, impairing the ability of the Fund to buy, sell, receive or deliver those securities. Sanctions could also result in Russia taking counter measures or retaliatory actions, which may further impair the value and liquidity of Russian securities.

The sanctions against certain Russian issuers include prohibitions on transacting in or dealing in new debt of longer than 30 or 90 days' maturity or new equity of such issuers, securities held by the Fund issued prior to the date of the sanctions being imposed are not currently subject to any restrictions under the sanctions. However, compliance with each of these sanctions may impair the ability of the Fund to buy, sell, hold, receive or deliver the affected securities or other securities of such issuers. If it becomes impracticable or unlawful for the Fund to hold securities subject to, or otherwise affected by, sanctions (collectively, "affected securities"), or if deemed appropriate by the Fund's investment adviser, the Fund may prohibit in-kind deposits of the affected securities in connection with creation transactions and instead require a cash deposit, which may also increase the Fund's transaction costs.

Current or future sanctions may result in Russia taking counter measures or retaliatory actions, which may further impair the value and liquidity of Russian securities. These retaliatory measures may include the immediate freeze of Russian assets held by the Fund. In the event of such a freeze of any Fund assets, including depositary receipts, the Fund may need to liquidate non-restricted assets in order to satisfy any Fund redemption orders. The liquidation of Fund assets during this time may also result in the Fund receiving substantially lower prices for its securities.

Russia's ongoing military interventions in Ukraine have led to, and may lead to additional, sanctions being levied by the United States, the EU and other countries against Russia. Russia's military incursion and the resulting sanctions could adversely affect global energy and financial markets and thus could affect the value of the Fund's investments, even beyond any direct exposure the Fund may have to Russian issuers or the adjoining geographic regions. The extent and duration of the military action, sanctions and resulting market disruptions are impossible to predict, but could be substantial. Any such disruptions caused by Russian military action or resulting sanctions may magnify the impact of other risks described in the Prospectus and this SAI.

Transaction costs, including brokerage commissions or dealer mark-ups, in emerging and frontier countries may be higher than in developed securities markets. In addition, existing laws and regulations are often inconsistently applied. As legal systems in emerging and frontier countries develop, foreign investors may be adversely affected by new or amended laws and regulations. In circumstances where adequate laws exist, it may not be possible to obtain swift and equitable enforcement of the law.

Certain emerging and frontier countries may restrict or control foreign investments in their securities markets. These restrictions may limit the Fund's investment in those countries and may increase the expenses of the Fund. Certain emerging and frontier countries require governmental approval prior to investments by foreign persons or limit investment by foreign persons to only a specified percentage of an issuer's outstanding securities or a specific class of securities which may have less advantageous terms (including price) than securities of the company available for purchase by nationals. In addition, the repatriation of both investment income and capital from emerging and frontier countries may be subject to restrictions which require governmental consents or prohibit repatriation entirely for a period of time. Even where there is no outright restriction on repatriation of capital, the mechanics of repatriation may affect certain aspects of the operation of the Fund. Custodial and/or settlement systems in emerging and frontier countries may not be fully developed. To the extent the Fund invests in emerging countries, Fund assets that are traded in such markets and which have been entrusted to sub-custodians in these markets may be exposed to risks for which the sub-custodian will have no liability.

Emerging and frontier countries may be subject to a substantially greater degree of economic, political and social instability and disruption than more developed countries. This instability may result from, among other things, the following: (i) authoritarian governments or military involvement in political and economic decision making, including changes or attempted changes in governments through extra-constitutional means; (ii) social unrest associated with demands for improved political, economic or social conditions; (iii) internal insurgencies; (iv) hostile relations with neighboring countries; (v) ethnic, religious and racial disaffection or conflict; and (vi) the absence of developed legal structures governing foreign private investments and private property. Such economic, political and social instability could disrupt the principal financial markets in which the Fund may invest and adversely affect the value of the Fund's assets. The Fund's investments can also be adversely affected by any increase in taxes or by political, economic or diplomatic developments.

The Fund may invest in former "Eastern Bloc" countries in Eastern Europe. Most Eastern European countries had a centrally planned, socialist economy for a substantial period of time. The governments of many Eastern European countries have more recently been implementing reforms directed at political and economic liberalization, including efforts to decentralize the economic decision-making process and move towards a market economy. However, business entities in many Eastern European countries do not have an extended history of operating in a market-oriented economy, and the ultimate impact of Eastern European countries' attempts to move toward more market-oriented economies is currently unclear. In addition, any change in the leadership or policies of Eastern European countries may halt the expansion of or reverse the liberalization of foreign investment policies now occurring and adversely affect existing investment opportunities.

A portion of the Fund's portfolio may also be invested in issuers located in Central and South American countries. Securities markets in Central and South American countries may experience greater volatility than in other emerging countries. In addition, a number of Central and South American countries are among the largest emerging country debtors. There have been moratoria on, and reschedulings of, repayment with respect to these debts. Such events can restrict the flexibility of these debtor nations in the international markets and result in the imposition of onerous conditions on their economies.

Many of the currencies of Central and South American countries have experienced steady devaluation relative to the U.S. dollar, and major devaluations have historically occurred in certain countries. There is also a risk that certain Central and South American countries may restrict the free conversion of their currencies into other currencies. Some Central and South American countries may have managed currencies that are not free floating against the U.S. Dollar. This type of system can lead to sudden and large adjustments in the currency that, in turn, can have a disruptive and negative effect on foreign investors. Certain Central and South American currencies may not be internationally traded, and it would be difficult for the Fund to engage in foreign currency transactions designed to protect the value of the Fund's interests in securities denominated in such currencies.

The emergence of the Central and South American economies and securities markets will require continued economic and fiscal discipline that has been lacking at times in the past, as well as stable political and social conditions. Governments of many Central and South American countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector. The political history of certain Central and South American countries has been characterized by political uncertainty, intervention by the military in civilian and economic spheres and political corruption. Such developments, if they were to recur, could reverse favorable trends toward market and economic reform, privatization and removal of trade barriers.

International economic conditions, particularly those in the United States, as well as world prices for oil and other commodities may also influence the recovery of the Central and South American economies. Because commodities such as oil, gas, minerals and metals represent a significant percentage of the region's exports, the economies of Central and South American countries are particularly

sensitive to fluctuations in commodity prices. As a result, the economies in many of these countries can experience significant volatility.

Certain Central and South American countries have entered into regional trade agreements that would, among other things, reduce barriers among countries, increase competition among companies and reduce government subsidies in certain industries. No assurance can be given that these changes will result in the economic stability intended. There is a possibility that these trade arrangements will not be implemented, will be implemented but not completed or will be completed but then partially or completely unwound. It is also possible that a significant participant could choose to abandon a trade agreement, which could diminish its credibility and influence. Any of these occurrences could have adverse effects on the markets of both participating and non-participating countries, including share appreciation or depreciation of participant's national currencies and a significant increase in exchange rate volatility, a resurgence in economic protectionism, an undermining of confidence in the Central and South American markets, an undermining of Central and South American economic stability, the collapse or slowdown of the drive toward Central and South American economic unity, and/or reversion of the attempts to lower government debt and inflation rates that were introduced in anticipation of such trade agreements. Such developments could have an adverse impact on the Fund's investments in Central and South America generally or in specific countries participating in such trade agreements.

The economies of emerging and frontier countries may suffer from unfavorable growth of gross domestic product, rates of inflation and hyperinflation, capital reinvestment, resources, self-sufficiency and balance of payments. Many emerging and frontier countries have experienced in the past, and continue to experience, high rates of inflation. In certain countries inflation has at times accelerated rapidly to hyperinflationary levels, creating a negative interest rate environment and sharply eroding the value of outstanding financial assets in those countries. Other emerging and frontier countries, on the other hand, have recently experienced deflationary pressures and are in economic recessions. The economies of many emerging and frontier countries are heavily dependent upon international trade and are accordingly affected by protective trade barriers and the economic conditions of their trading partners. In addition, the economies of some emerging and frontier countries are vulnerable to weakness in world prices for their commodity exports.

Risks related to currencies and corporate actions are also greater in emerging and frontier countries than in developed countries. For example, some emerging and frontier countries may have fixed or managed currencies that are not free-floating against the U.S. dollar. Certain emerging and frontier countries may experience sudden and large adjustments in their currency, which can have a disruptive and adverse effect on foreign investors. Some emerging and frontier countries have a higher risk of currency devaluations, and some of these countries may experience sustained periods of high inflation or rapid changes in inflation rates which can have negative effects on a country's economy and securities markets. There may be no significant foreign exchange market for certain currencies making it difficult for the Fund to engage in foreign currency transactions designed to protect the value of the Fund's investments denominated in such currencies. Some emerging and frontier countries may impose restrictions on the free conversion of their currencies into foreign currencies, including the U.S. dollar. Corporate action procedures in emerging and frontier countries may be less reliable and have limited or no involvement by the depositories and central banks. Lack of standard practices and payment systems can lead to significant delays in payment.

Foreign securities in which the Fund invests may be traded in markets that close before the time that the Fund calculates its NAV. Furthermore, certain foreign securities in which the Fund invests may be listed on foreign exchanges that trade on weekends or other days when the Fund does not calculate its NAV. As a result, the value of the Fund's holdings may change on days when shareholders are not able to purchase or redeem.

Many emerging and frontier countries are highly dependent on foreign loans for their operations. There have been moratoria on, and refinancing of, repayments with respect to these loans. Some of the refinancings have imposed restrictions and conditions on the economies of such nations that have adversely affected their economic growth.

Frontier countries generally have smaller economies or less developed capital markets than traditional emerging markets and, as a result, the risks of investing in emerging market countries are magnified in frontier countries.

FORWARD COMMITMENTS, WHEN-ISSUED SECURITIES AND DELAYED-DELIVERY TRANSACTIONS. The Fund may purchase securities on a when-issued basis or purchase or sell securities on a forward commitment (sometimes called delayed delivery) basis. These transactions involve a commitment by the Fund to purchase or sell securities at a future date. The price of the underlying securities (usually expressed in terms of yield) and the date when the securities will be delivered and paid for (the settlement date) are fixed at the time the transaction is negotiated. When-issued purchases and forward commitment transactions normally are negotiated directly with the other party. In addition, recently finalized rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") include mandatory margin requirements that require the Fund to post collateral in connection with its to-beannounced ("TBA") transactions. There is no similar requirement applicable to the Fund's TBA counterparties. The required collateralization of TBA trades could increase the cost of TBA transactions to the Fund and impose added operational complexity.

The Fund will purchase securities on a when-issued basis or purchase or sell securities on a forward commitment basis only with the intention of completing the transaction and actually purchasing or selling the securities. If deemed advisable as a matter of investment strategy, however, the Fund may dispose of or negotiate a commitment after entering into it. The Fund also may sell securities it has committed to purchase before those securities are delivered to the Fund on the settlement date. The Fund may realize a capital gain or loss in connection with these transactions.

For purposes of determining the Fund's average dollar-weighted maturity, the maturity of when-issued, delayed-delivery or forward commitment securities will be calculated from the commitment date.

FUTURES CONTRACTS AND RELATED OPTIONS. The Fund may invest in futures contracts and may purchase and sell call and put options on futures contracts for hedging purposes, in anticipation of the purchase of securities or for liquidity management purposes.

The Fund will claim an exclusion from the definition of the term "commodity pool operator" ("CPO") under the Commodity Exchange Act, and, therefore, is not subject to registration or regulation as a pool operator under that Act with respect to the Fund. The Fund will engage in transactions in futures contracts and related options. The Fund is required to affirm the Fund's CPO exclusion annually within 60 days of the start of the calendar year.

With respect to investments in swap transactions, commodity futures, commodity options or certain other derivatives used for purposes other than bona fide hedging purposes, an investment company must meet one of the following tests under the amended regulations in order to claim an exemption from being considered a "commodity pool" or a CPO. First, the aggregate initial margin and premiums required to establish an investment company's positions in such investments may not exceed five percent (5%) of the liquidation value of the investment company's portfolio (after accounting for unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such investments). Alternatively, the aggregate net notional value of such instruments, determined at the time of the most recent position established, may not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the liquidation value of the investment company's portfolio (after accounting for unrealized profits and unrealized losses on any such positions). In addition to meeting one of the foregoing trading limitations, the investment company may not market itself as a commodity pool or otherwise as a vehicle for trading in the commodity futures, commodity options or swaps and derivatives markets. In the event that the Adviser was required to register as a CPO, the disclosure and operations of the Fund would need to comply with all applicable CFTC regulations. Compliance with these additional registration and regulatory requirements would increase operational expenses. Other potentially adverse regulatory initiatives could also develop. A related CFTC proposal to harmonize applicable CFTC and SEC regulations could, if adopted, mitigate certain disclosure and operational burdens if CPO registration were required.

When used as a hedge, the Fund may sell a futures contract in order to offset a decrease in the market value of its portfolio securities that might otherwise result from a market decline or currency exchange fluctuations. The Fund may do so either to hedge the value of its portfolio securities as a whole, or to protect against declines, occurring prior to sales of securities, in the value of the securities to be sold. Conversely, the Fund may purchase a futures contract as a hedge in anticipation of purchase of securities. In addition, the Fund may utilize futures contracts in anticipation of changes in the composition of its portfolio holdings.

Participation in foreign futures and foreign options transactions involves the execution and clearing of trades on or subject to the rules of a foreign board of trade. Neither the National Futures Association (the "NFA") nor any domestic exchange regulates activities of any foreign boards of trade, including the execution, delivery and clearing of transactions, or has the power to compel enforcement of the rules of a foreign board of trade or any applicable foreign law. This is true even if the exchange is formally linked to a domestic market so that a position taken on the market may be liquidated by a transaction on another market. Moreover, such laws or regulations will vary depending on the foreign country in which the foreign futures or foreign options transaction occurs. For these reasons, persons who trade foreign futures or foreign options contracts may not be afforded certain of the protective measures provided by the Commodity Exchange Act, the CFTC regulations and the rules of the NFA and any domestic exchange, including the right to use reparations proceedings before the CFTC and arbitration proceedings provided them by the NFA or any domestic futures exchange. In particular, the Fund's investments in foreign futures or foreign options transactions may not be provided the same protections in respect of transactions on U.S. futures exchanges. In addition, the price of any foreign futures or foreign options contract and, therefore, the potential profit and loss thereon may be affected by any variance in the foreign exchange rate between the time an order is placed and the time it is liquidated, offset or exercised.

Certain derivatives traded in over-the-counter ("OTC") markets, including indexed securities, swaps and OTC options, involve substantial liquidity risk. The absence of liquidity may make it difficult or impossible for the Fund to sell such instruments promptly at an acceptable price. The absence of liquidity may also make it more difficult for the Fund to ascertain a market value for such instruments.

Because derivatives traded in OTC markets are not guaranteed by an exchange or clearing corporation and may not require payment of margin, to the extent that the Fund has unrealized gains in such instruments or has deposited collateral with its counterparty the Fund is at risk that its counterparty will become bankrupt or otherwise fail to honor its obligations. The Fund will attempt to minimize these risks by engaging in transactions in derivatives traded in OTC markets only with financial institutions that have substantial capital or that have provided the Fund with a third-party guaranty or other credit enhancement.

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, regulations are now in effect that require swap dealers to post and collect variation margin (comprised of specified liquid instruments and subject to a required haircut) in connection with trading of OTC swaps with the Fund. Shares of investment companies (other than certain money market funds) may not be posted as collateral under these regulations. Requirements for posting of initial margin in connection with OTC swaps were phased in through 2020. These instruments may be subject to additional regulation as qualified financial contracts (see "Qualified Financial Contracts" below for additional information).

ILLIQUID OR RESTRICTED INVESTMENTS. In accordance with Rule 22e-4 under the 1940 Act (the "Liquidity Rule"), the Fund may invest up to 15% of its net assets in illiquid investments. An illiquid investment as defined in the Liquidity Rule is an investment that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions within 7 calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment. Such investments include, but are not limited to, time deposits, repurchase agreements with maturities longer than 7 days, and certain securities restricted as to resale under the 1933 Act.

Securities that may be resold pursuant to Rule 144A under the 1933 Act, securities offered pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of, or securities otherwise subject to restrictions or limitations on resale under the 1933 Act ("Restricted Securities") shall not be deemed illiquid solely by reason of being unregistered and may be treated as liquid investments if they meet the criteria in the Fund's liquidity risk management program and related SEC guidance.

INVESTMENT COMPANIES. The Fund may invest in securities issued by other investment companies. The Fund intends to limit its investments in accordance with applicable law or as permitted by Rule 12d1-4. Among other things, such law would limit these investments so that, as determined immediately after a securities purchase is made by the Fund: (a) not more than 5% of the value of its total assets will be invested in the securities of any one investment company (the "5% Limitation"); (b) not more than 10% of the value of its total assets will be invested in the aggregate in securities of investment companies as a group (the "10% Limitation"); (c) not more than 3% of the outstanding voting stock of any one investment company will be owned by the Fund (the "3% Limitation"); and (d) not more than 10% of the outstanding voting stock of any one closed-end investment company will be owned by the Fund together with all other investment companies that have the same advisor (the "Closed-End Limitation"). Under certain sets of conditions, different sets of restrictions may be applicable. As a shareholder of another investment company, the Fund would bear, along with other shareholders, its proportionate share of that investment company's expenses, including advisory fees. These expenses would be in addition to the advisory and other expenses that the Fund bears directly in connection with its own operations. Investment companies in which the Fund may invest may also impose a sales or distribution charge in connection with the purchase or redemption of their shares and other types of commissions or charges. Such charges will be payable by the Fund and, therefore, will be borne directly by the Fund's shareholders.

To the extent applicable, the Fund intends to rely on Section 12(d)(1)(F) and Rule 12d1-4 under the 1940 Act which in conjunction with one another allow registered investment companies (such as the Fund) to exceed the 3%, 5% and 10% Limitation and the Closed-End Limitation, provided that the aggregate sales loads any investor pays (i.e., the combined distribution expenses of both the acquiring fund and the acquired funds) do not exceed the limits on sales loads established by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") for funds of funds, and the registered investment company "mirror votes" any securities purchased pursuant to Section 12(d)(1)(F).

LARGE TRADE NOTIFICATIONS. The transfer agent may from time to time receive notice that an authorized institution or other financial intermediary has received an order for a large trade in the Fund's shares. The Adviser may determine to enter into portfolio transactions in anticipation of that order, even though the order will not be processed until the following business day. This practice provides for a closer correlation between the time shareholders place trade orders and the time the Fund enters into portfolio transactions based on those orders, and permits the Fund to be more fully invested in investment securities, in the case of purchase orders, and to more orderly liquidate their investment positions, in the case of redemption orders. On the other hand, the authorized institution or other financial intermediary may not ultimately process the order. In this case, the Fund may be required to borrow assets to settle the portfolio transactions entered into in anticipation of that order, and would therefore incur borrowing costs. The Fund may also suffer investment losses on those portfolio transactions. Conversely, the Fund would benefit from any earnings and investment gains resulting from such portfolio transactions.

LIBOR RISK. Instruments in which the Fund may invest pay interest at floating rates based on LIBOR, which is the offered rate for short-term Eurodollar deposits between major international banks, or have been subject to interest caps or floors based on LIBOR. The Fund and issuers of instruments in which the Fund invests may have also historically obtained financing at floating rates based on LIBOR. Most LIBOR settings are no longer published, and the UK Financial Conduct Authority (the "FCA") and LIBOR's administrator, ICE Benchmark Administration (the "IBA"), have announced that a majority of U.S. dollar LIBOR settings will no longer be published after June 30, 2023. Various financial industry groups have been planning for the transition away from LIBOR, but there are challenges to converting certain securities and transactions to a new reference rate (e.g., the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), which is intended to replace the U.S. dollar LIBOR). As a result, the nature of any replacement rate and the impact of the transition from LIBOR on the Fund's transactions and the financial markets generally is unknown. The transition process might lead to increased volatility and illiquidity in markets for instruments whose terms currently include LIBOR. While some existing LIBOR-based instruments may contemplate a scenario where LIBOR is no longer available by providing for an alternative rate-setting methodology, there may be significant uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of any such alternative methodologies to replicate LIBOR. Not all existing LIBOR-based instruments may have alternative rate-setting provisions and there remains uncertainty regarding the willingness and ability of issuers to add alternative rate-setting provisions in certain existing instruments. In addition, a liquid market for newly issued instruments that use a reference rate other than LIBOR still may be developing

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT. Pursuant to the Liquidity Rule, the Fund may invest up to 15% of its net assets in illiquid investments. The Fund has implemented a liquidity risk management program and related procedures that identify and monitor illiquid investments pursuant to the Liquidity Rule. In connection with the implementation of the Liquidity Rule and the Fund's liquidity risk management program, an illiquid investment is defined as an investment that the Fund reasonably expects cannot be sold or disposed of in current market conditions within seven (7) calendar days or less without the sale or disposition significantly changing the market value of the investment. If the limitation on illiquid investment is exceeded, other than by a change in market values, the condition will be reported to the Board and, when required by the Liquidity Rule, to the SEC. To the extent an investment held by the Fund is deemed to be an illiquid investment or less liquid investment, the Fund will be exposed to greater liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will not be able to pay redemption proceeds within the time periods described in a timely manner because of unusual market conditions, an unusually high volume of redemption requests, legal restrictions impairing the Fund's ability to sell particular securities or close derivative positions at an advantageous market price or other reasons. Certain portfolio securities may be less liquid than others, which may make them difficult or impossible to sell at the time and the price that the Fund would like or difficult to value. The Fund may have to lower the price, sell other securities instead or forgo an investment opportunity. In addition, less liquid investments may be more difficult to value and markets may become less liquid when there are fewer interested buyers or sellers or when dealers are unwilling or unable to make a market for certain securities. Recently, dealers have generally been less willing to make markets for fixed-income securities. All of these risks may increase during periods of market turmoil and could have a negative effect on portfolio management or performance. Liquidity risk may be the result of, among other things, the reduced number and capacity of traditional market participants to make a market in fixed-income securities. The potential for liquidity risk may be magnified by a rising interest rate environment or other circumstances where investor redemptions from money market and other fixed-income mutual funds may be higher than normal, potentially causing increased supply in the market due to selling activity. Funds with principal investment strategies that involve investments in securities of companies with smaller market capitalizations, foreign securities derivatives or securities with potential market and/or credit risk tend to have the greatest exposure to liquidity risk. All of these risks may increase during periods of market volatility. The liquidity of certain assets, such as privately issued and noninvestment grade mortgage- and asset-backed securities, may be difficult to ascertain and may change over time. Transactions in less liquid investments may entail transaction costs that are higher than those for transactions in more liquid investments.

MISCELLANEOUS. Securities may be purchased on margin only to obtain such short-term credits as are necessary for the clearance of purchases and sales of securities. The Fund may, however, make short sales against-the-box.

MONEY MARKET FUND INVESTMENTS. Certain money market funds in which the Fund may invest, including certain money market funds managed by the Adviser, operate as "institutional money market funds" under Rule 2a-7 of the 1940 Act and must calculate their NAV per share to the fourth decimal place (e.g., \$1.0000) reflecting market-based values of the money market fund's holdings. Because the share price of these money market funds will fluctuate, when the Fund sells its shares they may be worth more or less than what the Fund originally paid for them. The Fund could also lose money if the money market fund holds defaulted securities or as a result of adverse market conditions. These money market funds may impose a "liquidity fee" upon the redemption of their shares or may temporarily suspend the ability to redeem shares if the money market fund's liquidity falls below the required minimums because of market conditions or other factors.

These measures may result in an investment loss or prohibit the Fund from redeeming shares when the Adviser would otherwise redeem shares. If a liquidity fee is imposed or redemptions are suspended, an investing Fund may have to sell other investments at less than opportune times to raise cash to meet shareholder redemptions or for other purposes. The Adviser, as a result of imposition of liquidity fees or suspension of redemptions, or the potential risk of such actions, may determine not to invest the Fund's assets in a money market fund when it otherwise would, and may potentially be forced to invest in more expensive, lower-performing investments.

Imposition of a liquidity fee or temporary suspension of redemptions is at the discretion of a money market fund's board of directors or trustees; however, they must impose a liquidity fee or suspend redemptions if they determine it would be in the best interest of the money market fund. Such a determination may conflict with the interest of the Fund.

The Fund may also invest in money market funds that invest at least 99.5% of their assets in U.S. government securities and operate as "government money market funds" under Rule 2a-7. Government money market funds may seek to maintain a stable price of \$1.00 per share and are generally not required to impose liquidity fees or temporarily suspend redemptions. However, government money market funds typically offer materially lower yields than other money market funds with fluctuating share prices.

The Fund could lose money invested in a money market fund. An investment in a money market fund, including a government money market fund, is not insured or guaranteed by the FDIC or any other government agency. A money market fund's sponsor has no legal obligation to provide financial support to the money market fund, and you should not expect that the sponsor or any person will provide financial support to a money market fund at any time.

In addition to the fees and expenses that the Fund directly bears, the Fund indirectly bears the fees and expenses of any money market funds in which it invests, including affiliated money market funds. To the extent that fees and expenses, along with the fees and expenses of any other funds in which the Fund may invest, are expected to equal or exceed 0.01% of the Fund's average daily net assets, they will be reflected in the annual fund operating expenses set forth in the fee table in the Fund's Prospectus. By investing in a money market fund, the Fund will be exposed to the investment risks of the money market fund in direct proportion to such investment. The money market fund may not achieve its investment objective. The Fund, through its investment in the money market fund, may not achieve its investment objective. To the extent the Fund invests in instruments such as derivatives, the Fund may hold investments, which may be significant, in money market fund shares to cover its obligations resulting from the Fund's investments in derivatives. Money market funds are subject to comprehensive regulations. The enactment of new legislation or regulations, as well as changes in interpretation and enforcement of current laws, may affect the manner of operation, performance and/or yield of money market funds.

OPERATIONAL RISK. The Fund service providers may experience disruptions or operating errors arising from factors such as processing errors, inadequate or failed internal or external processes, failures in systems and technology, changes in personnel, and errors caused by third-party service providers or trading counterparties. In particular, these errors or failures in systems and technology, including operational risks associated with reliance on third party service providers, may affect the Fund's ability to calculate its net asset values in a timely manner, including over a potentially extended period. While service providers are required to have appropriate operational risk management policies and procedures, their methods of operational risk management may differ from those of the Fund in the setting of priorities, the personnel and resources available or the effectiveness of relevant controls. The Adviser, through its monitoring and oversight of the service providers, seeks to ensure that service providers take appropriate precautions to avoid and mitigate risks that could lead to disruptions and operating errors. However, it is not possible for the Fund service providers to identify all of the operational risks that may affect the Fund or to develop processes and controls to completely eliminate or mitigate their occurrence or effects.

OPTIONS. The Fund may buy put options and buy call options and write covered call and secured put options. Such options may relate to particular securities, foreign and domestic stock indices, financial instruments, foreign currencies or the yield differential between two securities ("yield curve options") and may or may not be listed on a domestic or foreign securities exchange or issued by

the Options Clearing Corporation. A call option for a particular security or currency gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy, and a writer the obligation to sell, the underlying security at the stated exercise price prior to the expiration of the option, regardless of the market price of the security or currency. The premium paid to the writer is in consideration for undertaking the obligation under the option contract. A put option for a particular security or currency gives the purchaser the right to sell the security or currency at the stated exercise price prior to the expiration date of the option, regardless of the market price of the security or currency. In contrast to an option on a particular security, an option on an index provides the holder with the right to make or receive a cash settlement upon exercise of the option. The amount of this settlement will be equal to the difference between the closing price of the index at the time of exercise and the exercise price of the option expressed in dollars, times a specified multiple.

Options trading is a highly specialized activity that entails greater than ordinary investment risk. Options on particular securities may be more volatile than the underlying instruments and, therefore, on a percentage basis, an investment in options may be subject to greater fluctuation than an investment in the underlying instruments themselves. The Fund will write call options only if they are "covered." In the case of a call option on a security or currency, the option is "covered" if the Fund owns the security or currency underlying the call or has an absolute and immediate right to acquire that security without additional cash consideration upon conversion or exchange of other securities held by it. For a call option on an index, the option is covered if the Fund maintains with its custodian a portfolio of securities substantially replicating the index, or liquid assets equal to the contract value. A call option also is covered if the Fund holds a call on the same security, currency or index as the call written where the exercise price of the call held is (i) equal to or less than the exercise price of the call written, or (ii) greater than the exercise price of the call written provided the Fund segregates liquid assets in the amount of the difference.

A put option is covered if the Fund holds a put option on the same security or currency as the option written where the exercise price of the option held is equal to or higher than the exercise price of the option written.

With respect to yield curve options, a call (or put) option is covered if the Fund holds another call (or put) option on the spread between the same two securities. Therefore, the Fund's liability for such a covered option generally is limited to the difference between the amount of the Fund's liability under the option written by the Fund less the value of the option held by the Fund. Yield curve options also may be covered in such other manner as may be in accordance with the requirements of the counterparty with which the option is traded and applicable laws and regulations.

The Fund's obligation to sell subject to a covered call option written by it, or to purchase a security or currency subject to a secured put option written by it, may be terminated prior to the expiration date of the option by the Fund's execution of a closing purchase transaction, which is effected by purchasing on an exchange an option of the same series (i.e., same underlying security or currency, exercise price and expiration date) as the option previously written. Such a purchase does not result in the ownership of an option. A closing purchase transaction will ordinarily be effected to realize a profit on an outstanding option, to prevent an underlying instrument from being called, to permit the sale of the underlying security or currency or to permit the writing of a new option containing different terms on such underlying security. The cost of such a liquidation purchase plus transaction costs may be greater than the premium received upon the original option, in which event the Fund will have incurred a loss in the transaction. There is no assurance that a liquid secondary market will exist for any particular option. An option writer, unable to effect a closing purchase transaction, will not be able to sell the underlying security or currency (in the case of a covered call option) or liquidate the segregated assets (in the case of a secured put option) until the option expires or the optioned security or currency is delivered upon exercise with the result that the writer in such circumstances will be subject to the risk of market decline or appreciation in the instrument during such period.

When the Fund purchases an option, the premium paid by it is recorded as an asset of the Fund. When the Fund writes an option, an amount equal to the net premium (the premium less the commission) received by the Fund is included in the liability section of the Fund's statement of assets and liabilities as a deferred credit. The amount of this asset or deferred credit will be subsequently marked-to-market to reflect the current value of the option purchased or written. The current value of the traded option is the last sale price or, in the absence of a sale, the current bid price. If an option purchased by the Fund expires unexercised, the Fund realizes a loss equal to the premium paid. If the Fund enters into a closing sale transaction on an option purchased by it, the Fund will realize a gain if the premium received by the Fund on the closing transaction is more than the premium paid to purchase the option, or a loss if it is less. If an option written by the Fund expires on the stipulated expiration date or if the Fund enters into a closing purchase transaction, it will realize a gain (or loss if the cost of a closing purchase transaction exceeds the net premium received when the option is sold) and the deferred credit related to such option will be eliminated. If an option written by the Fund is exercised, the proceeds of the sale will be increased by the net premium originally received and the Fund will realize a gain or loss.

There are several risks associated with transactions in certain options. For example, there are significant differences between the securities, currency and options markets that could result in an imperfect correlation between these markets, causing a given transaction not to achieve its objectives. In addition, a liquid secondary market for particular options, whether traded over-the-counter or on an exchange, may be absent for reasons which include the following: there may be insufficient trading interest in certain options; restrictions may be imposed by an exchange on opening transactions or closing transactions or both; trading halts, suspensions or other restrictions may be imposed with respect to particular classes or series of options or underlying securities or currencies; unusual or unforeseen circumstances may interrupt normal operations on an exchange; the facilities of an exchange or the Options Clearing Corporation may not at all times be adequate to handle current trading value; or one or more exchanges could, for economic or other reasons, decide or be compelled at some future date to discontinue the trading of options (or a particular class or series of options), in which event the secondary market on that exchange (or in that class or series of options) would cease to exist, although outstanding options that had been issued by the Options Clearing Corporation as a result of trades on that exchange would continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms.

PANDEMIC RISK. The continuing spread of an infectious respiratory illness caused by a novel strain of coronavirus (known as COVID-19) has caused volatility, severe market dislocations and liquidity constraints in many markets, including securities the Fund holds, and may adversely affect the Fund's investments and operations. The outbreak was first detected in December 2019 and subsequently spread globally. Since then, the number of cases has fluctuated and new "variants" have been confirmed around the world. The transmission of COVID-19 and efforts to contain its spread have resulted in international and domestic travel restrictions and disruptions, closed international borders, enhanced health screenings at ports of entry and elsewhere, disruption of and delays in healthcare service preparation and delivery, quarantines, event and service cancellations or interruptions, disruptions to business operations (including staff reductions), supply chains and consumer activity, as well as general concern and uncertainty that has negatively affected the economic environment. These disruptions have led to instability in the marketplace, including stock and credit market losses and overall volatility. The impact of COVID-19, and other infectious illness outbreaks, epidemics or pandemics that may arise in the future, could adversely affect the economies of many nations or the entire global economy, the financial performance of individual issuers, borrowers and sectors and the health of the markets generally in potentially significant and unforeseen ways. In addition, the impact of infectious illnesses, such as COVID-19, in emerging market countries may be greater due to generally less established healthcare systems. This crisis or other public health crises may exacerbate other pre-existing political, social and economic risks in certain countries or globally.

The Fund and the Adviser have in place business continuity plans reasonably designed to ensure that they maintain normal business operations, and that the Fund, its portfolio and assets are protected. However, in the event of a pandemic or an outbreak, such as COVID-19, there can be no assurance that the Fund, its investment adviser and service providers, or the Fund's portfolio companies, will be able to maintain normal business operations for an extended period of time or will not lose the services of key personnel on a temporary or long-term basis due to illness or other reasons. A pandemic or disease could also impair the information technology and other operational systems upon which the investment adviser relies and could otherwise disrupt the ability of the Fund's service providers to perform essential tasks.

The foregoing could lead to a significant economic downturn or recession, increased market volatility, a greater number of market closures, higher default rates and adverse effects on the values and liquidity of securities or other assets. Such impacts, which may vary across asset classes, may adversely affect the performance of the Fund's investments, the Fund and your investment in the Fund. In certain cases, an exchange or market may close or issue trading halts on either specific securities or even the entire market, which may result in the Fund being, among other things, unable to buy or sell certain securities or financial instruments or to accurately price its investments.

Governmental authorities and regulators throughout the world, such as the U.S. Federal Reserve, have in the past responded to major economic disruptions with changes to fiscal and monetary policy, including but not limited to, direct capital infusions, new monetary programs and dramatically lower interest rates. Certain of those policy changes are being implemented in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. Such policy changes may adversely affect the value, volatility and liquidity of dividend and interest paying securities. The effect of recent efforts undertaken by the U.S. Federal Reserve to address the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, such as the reduction of the federal funds target rate, and other monetary and fiscal actions that may be taken by the U.S. federal government to stimulate the U.S. economy, are not yet fully known. Although vaccines for COVID-19 are becoming more widely available, the full impacts of a pandemic or disease outbreaks are unknown and the pace of recovery may vary from market to market.

QUALIFIED FINANCIAL CONTRACTS. Regulations adopted by federal banking regulators under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act ("Dodd-Frank"), which took effect in 2019, require that certain qualified financial contracts ("QFCs") with counterparties that are part of U.S. or foreign global systemically important banking organizations be amended to include contractual restrictions on close-out and cross-default rights. QFCs include, but are not limited to, securities contracts, commodities contracts, forward contracts, repurchase agreements, securities lending agreements and swaps agreements, as well as related master agreements, security agreements, credit enhancements, and reimbursement obligations. If a covered counterparty of the Fund or certain of the covered counterparty's affiliates were to become subject to certain insolvency proceedings, the Fund may be temporarily unable to exercise certain default rights, and the QFC may be transferred to another entity. These requirements may impact the Fund's credit and counterparty risks.

REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUSTS. The Fund may invest in real estate investment trusts ("REITs"). REITs are pooled investment vehicles which invest primarily in real estate or real estate related loans. REITs are generally classified as equity REITs, mortgage REITs or a combination of equity and mortgage REITs. Equity REITs invest the majority of their assets directly in real property and derive income primarily from the collection of rents. Equity REITs can also realize capital gains by selling properties that have appreciated in value. Equity REITs may further be categorized by the type of real estate securities they own, such as apartment properties, retail shopping centers, office and industrial properties, hotels, healthcare facilities, manufactured housing and mixed property types. Mortgage REITs invest the majority of their assets in real estate mortgages and derive income from the collection of interest payments. Hybrid REITs combine the characteristics of both equity and mortgage REITs. Like regulated investment companies such as the Fund, REITs are not taxed on income distributed to shareholders provided they comply with certain requirements under the U.S. Code. The Fund will indirectly bear its proportionate share of any expenses paid by REITs in which it invests in addition to the expenses paid by the Fund.

Investing in REITs involves certain unique risks. Equity REITs may be affected by changes in the value of the underlying property owned by such REITs, while mortgage REITs may be affected by the quality of any credit extended. REITs are dependent upon management skills, are not diversified (except to the extent the U.S. Code requires), and are subject to the risks of financing projects. REITs are subject to heavy cash flow dependency, default by borrowers, self-liquidation, and the possibilities of failing to qualify for the exemption from tax for distributed income under the U.S. Code and failing to maintain their exemptions from the 1940 Act. REITs (especially mortgage REITs) are also subject to interest rate risks. Investing in REITs also involves risks similar to those associated with investing in small-capitalization companies. That is, they may have limited financial resources, may trade less frequently and in a limited volume and may be subject to abrupt or erratic price movements in comparison to larger capitalization companies. To the extent that assets underlying a REIT are concentrated geographically, by property type or in certain other respects such as location, these risks may be heightened.

In addition, the value of such securities may fluctuate in response to the market's perception of the creditworthiness of the issuers of mortgage-related securities owned by the Fund. Because investments in mortgage-related securities are interest sensitive, the ability of the issuer to reinvest or to reinvest favorably in underlying mortgages may be limited by government regulation or tax policy. For example, action by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System to limit the growth of the nation's money supply may cause interest rates to rise and thereby reduce the volume of new residential mortgages. Additionally, although mortgages and mortgage-related securities are generally supported by some form of government or private guarantees and/or insurance, there is no assurance that private guarantors or insurers will be able to meet their obligation.

REITs (especially mortgage REITs) are also subject to interest rate risks. When interest rates decline, the value of a REIT's investments in fixed-rate obligations can be expected to rise. Conversely, when interest rates rise, the value of a REIT's investment in fixed-rate obligations can be expected to decline. In contrast, as interest rates on adjustable-rate mortgage loans are reset periodically, yields on a REIT's investments in such loans will gradually align themselves to reflect changes in market interest rates, causing the value of such investments to fluctuate less dramatically in response to interest rate fluctuations than would investments in fixed-rate obligations.

The REIT investments of the Fund may not provide complete tax information to the Fund until after the calendar year-end. Consequently, because of the delay, it may be necessary for the Fund to request permission to extend the deadline for issuance of Forms 1099-DIV beyond January 31. Also, under current provisions of the U.S. Code, distributions attributable to operating income of REITs in which the Fund invests are not eligible for favorable tax treatment as long-term capital gains and will be taxable to you as ordinary income.

REAL ESTATE SECURITIES. The Fund may invest in real estate securities. The performance of real estate securities may be significantly impacted by the performance of real estate markets. Property values may fall due to increasing vacancies or declining rents resulting from economic, legal, cultural or technological developments. The price of real estate company shares also may drop because of the failure of borrowers to pay their loans and poor management. Many real estate companies utilize leverage, which increases investment risk and could adversely affect a company's operations and market value in periods of rising interest rates as well as risks normally associated with debt financing. Real property investments are subject to varying degrees of risk. The yields available from investments in real estate depend on the amount of income and capital appreciation generated by the related properties. Income and real estate values may also be adversely affected by such factors as applicable domestic and foreign laws (e.g., Americans with Disabilities Act and tax laws), interest rate levels and the availability of financing. If the properties do not generate sufficient income to meet operating expenses, including, where applicable, debt service, ground lease payments, tenant improvements, third-party leasing commissions and other capital expenditures, the income and ability of the real estate company to make payments of any interest and principal on its debt securities will be adversely affected. In addition, real property may be subject to the quality of credit extended and defaults by borrowers and tenants. The performance of the economy in each of the countries and regions in which the real estate owned by the Fund is located affects occupancy, market rental rates and expenses and, consequently, has an impact on the income from such properties and their underlying values. The financial results of major local employers also may have an impact on the cash flow and value of certain properties. In addition, real estate investments are relatively illiquid and, therefore, the ability of real estate companies to vary their portfolios promptly in response to changes in economic or other conditions is limited. A real estate company such as a REIT may also have joint venture investments in certain of its properties and, consequently, its ability to control decisions relating to such properties may be limited.

REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS. The Fund may agree to purchase portfolio securities from domestic and foreign financial institutions subject to the seller's agreement to repurchase them at a mutually agreed upon date and price ("repurchase agreements"). Repurchase agreements may be considered to be loans under the 1940 Act. Although the securities subject to a repurchase agreement may bear maturities exceeding one year, settlement for the repurchase agreement generally will not be more than one year after the Fund's acquisition of the securities and normally will be within a shorter period of time. Securities subject to repurchase agreements normally are held either by the Fund's custodian or subcustodian (if any), or in the Federal Reserve/Treasury Book-Entry System.

The seller under a repurchase agreement will be required to maintain the value of the securities subject to the agreement in an amount exceeding the repurchase price (including accrued interest). Default by the seller would, however, expose the Fund to possible loss because of adverse market action or delay in connection with the disposition of the underlying securities. In addition, in the event of a bankruptcy, the Fund could suffer additional losses if a court determines that the Fund's interest in the collateral is unenforceable. If the Fund enter into a repurchase agreement involving securities the Fund could not purchase directly, and the counterparty defaults, the Fund may become the holder of securities that they could not purchase. Apart from the risks associated with bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings, there is also the risk that the seller may fail to repurchase the security. If the market value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement becomes less than the repurchase price (including accrued interest), generally, the seller of the securities will be required to deliver additional securities so that the market value of all securities subject to the repurchase agreement equals or exceeds the repurchase price. Repurchase agreements may be subject to additional regulation as qualified financial contracts (see "Qualified Financial Contracts" above for additional information).

In the event of default by a foreign counterparty in a repurchase agreement, the Fund may be unable to successfully assert a claim to the collateral under foreign laws. As a result, repurchase agreements with foreign financial institutions involve higher credit risks than repurchase agreements with domestic financial institutions. Moreover, certain foreign countries may have less developed and less regulated banking systems and auditing, accounting and financial reporting systems than the United States. In addition, repurchase agreements with foreign financial institutions located in emerging markets, or relating to emerging markets, may involve foreign financial institutions or counterparties with lower credit ratings than domestic financial institutions. (See also "Foreign Investments—General" on page 8 for additional discussion of the risks of investments with foreign institutions).

REVERSE REPURCHASE AGREEMENTS. The Fund may borrow funds by selling portfolio securities to financial institutions such as banks and broker/dealers and agreeing to repurchase them at a mutually specified date and price ("reverse repurchase agreements"). The Fund may use the proceeds of reverse repurchase agreements to purchase other securities either maturing, or under an agreement to resell, on a date simultaneous with or prior to the expiration of the reverse repurchase agreement. Reverse repurchase agreements are considered to be borrowings under the 1940 Act. The use of reverse repurchase agreements may be regarded as leveraging and, therefore, speculative. Furthermore, reverse repurchase agreements involve the risks that (i) the interest income earned in the investment of the proceeds will be less than the interest expense, (ii) the market value of the securities retained in lieu of sale by the Fund may decline below the price of the securities the Fund has sold but is obligated to repurchase, (iii) the market value of the securities sold will decline below the price at which the Fund is required to repurchase them and (iv) the securities will not be returned to the Fund. The Fund will pay interest on amounts obtained pursuant to a reverse repurchase agreement.

In addition, if the buyer of securities under a reverse repurchase agreement files for bankruptcy or becomes insolvent, such buyer or its trustee or receiver may receive an extension of time to determine whether to enforce the Fund's obligations to repurchase the securities and the Fund's use of the proceeds of the reverse repurchase agreement may effectively be restricted pending such decision. Reverse repurchase agreements may be subject to additional regulation as qualified financial contracts (see "Qualified Financial Contracts" above for additional information).

RISKS RELATED TO MEDIUM- AND LOWER-QUALITY SECURITIES. The Fund may invest in medium- and lower-quality securities. Fixed-income securities rated Baa3 or BBB are considered medium-quality obligations with speculative characteristics. Fixed-income securities rated below Baa3 or BBB are considered lower-quality and are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. Descriptions of the bond ratings are contained in Appendix A. Investments in medium- and lower-quality securities present special risk considerations. Medium-quality securities, although considered investment grade, also are considered to have speculative characteristics. Lower-quality securities are considered predominantly speculative by traditional investment standards. In some cases, these lower-quality obligations may be highly speculative and have poor prospects for reaching investment-grade standard. While any investment carries some risk, certain risks associated with lower-quality securities are different than those for investment-grade securities. The risk of loss through default is greater because lower-quality securities usually are unsecured and are often subordinate to an issuer's other obligations. Additionally, the issuers of these securities frequently have high debt levels and are thus more sensitive to difficult economic conditions, individual corporate developments and rising interest rates. Consequently, the market price of these securities may be quite volatile and may result in wider fluctuations of the Fund's NAV per share.

There remains some uncertainty about the performance level of the market for lower-quality securities under adverse market and economic environments. An economic downturn or increase in interest rates could have a negative impact on both the market for lower-quality securities (resulting in a greater number of bond defaults) and the value of lower-quality securities held in the portfolio of investments.

The economy and interest rates can affect lower-quality securities differently than other securities. For example, the prices of lower-quality securities are more sensitive to adverse economic changes or individual corporate developments than are the prices of higher-quality investments. In addition, during an economic downturn or period in which interest rates are rising significantly, highly leveraged issuers may experience financial difficulties, which, in turn, would adversely affect their ability to service their principal and interest payment obligations, meet projected business goals and obtain additional financing.

The market value of lower-quality securities tends to reflect individual corporate developments to a greater extent than that of higher-quality securities, which react primarily to fluctuations in the general level of interest rates. Lower-quality securities are often issued in connection with a corporate reorganization or restructuring or as a part of a merger, acquisition, takeover or similar event. They also are issued by less established companies seeking to expand. Such issuers are often highly leveraged, may not have available to them more traditional methods of financing and generally are less able than more established or less leveraged entities to make scheduled payments of principal and interest in the event of adverse economic developments or business conditions.

A holder's risk of loss from default is significantly greater for lower-quality securities than is the case for holders of other debt securities because such securities generally are unsecured and are often subordinated to the rights of other creditors of the issuers of such securities. Investment by the Fund in defaulted securities poses additional risk of loss should nonpayment of principal and interest continue in respect of such securities. Even if such securities are held to maturity, recovery by the Fund of its initial investment and any anticipated income or appreciation will be uncertain. The Fund also may incur additional expenses in seeking recovery on defaulted securities. If an issuer of a security defaults, the Fund may incur additional expenses to seek recovery. In addition, periods of economic uncertainty would likely result in increased volatility for the market prices of lower-quality securities as well as the Fund's NAV. In general, both the prices and yields of lower-quality securities will fluctuate.

The secondary market for lower-quality securities is concentrated in relatively few market makers and is dominated by institutional investors, including mutual funds, insurance companies and other financial institutions. Accordingly, the secondary market for such securities is not as liquid as, and is more volatile than, the secondary market for higher-quality securities. In addition, market trading

volume for high-yield fixed-income securities generally is lower and the secondary market for such securities could contract under adverse market or economic conditions, independent of any specific adverse changes in the condition of a particular issuer. These factors may have an adverse effect on the market price and the Fund's ability to dispose of particular portfolio investments. A less developed secondary market also may make it more difficult for the Fund to obtain precise valuations of the high-yield securities in its portfolio.

The adoption of new legislation could adversely affect the secondary market for high-yield securities and the financial condition of issuers of these securities. The form of any future legislation, and the probability of such legislation being enacted, is uncertain.

In certain circumstances, it may be difficult to determine a security's fair value due to a lack of reliable objective information. Such instances occur where there is not an established secondary market for the security or when the security is lightly traded. As a result, the Fund's valuation of a security and the price it is actually able to obtain when it sells the security could differ.

Adverse publicity and investor perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may decrease the value and liquidity of lower-quality convertible securities held by the Fund, especially in a thinly traded market. Illiquid or restricted securities held by the Fund may involve special registration responsibilities, liabilities and costs, and could involve other liquidity and valuation difficulties.

The ratings of S&P, DBRS Morningstar® Ratings Limited ("DBRS Morningstar®"), Moody's and Fitch evaluate the safety of a lower-quality security's principal and interest payments, but do not address market value risk. Because the ratings of the rating agencies may not always reflect current conditions and events, in addition to using recognized rating agencies and other sources, the Adviser performs its own analysis of the issuers whose lower-quality securities the Fund's purchase. Because of this, the Fund's performance may depend more on the Adviser's credit analysis than is the case of mutual funds investing in higher-quality securities.

In selecting lower-quality securities, the Adviser considers factors such as those relating to the creditworthiness of issuers, the ratings and performance of the securities, the protections afforded the securities and the diversity of the Fund's investment portfolio. The Adviser monitors the issuers of lower-quality securities held by the Fund for their ability to make required principal and interest payments, as well as in an effort to control the liquidity of the Fund so that it can meet redemption requests.

RISKS RELATED TO SMALL- AND MID-CAPITALIZATION COMPANY SECURITIES. The Fund may invest in small- and mid- capitalization company securities. While the Adviser may believe that smaller- and mid-capitalization companies can provide greater growth potential than larger, more mature firms, investing in the securities of such companies also involves greater risk, portfolio price volatility and cost. Securities of such issuers may lack sufficient market liquidity to enable the Fund to effect sales at an advantageous time or without a substantial drop in price. Small- and mid-capitalization companies often have narrower markets and more limited managerial and financial resources than larger, more established companies and may have a greater sensitivity to changing economic conditions. Smaller- and mid- capitalization companies also face a greater risk of business failure. As a result, their performance can be more volatile, which could increase the volatility of the Fund's portfolios. Generally, the smaller the company size, the greater these risks.

The values of small- and mid-capitalization company stocks will frequently fluctuate independently of the values of larger company stocks. Small- and mid-capitalization company stocks may decline in price as large company stock prices rise, or they may rise in price as large company stock prices decline. You should, therefore, expect that the NAV of Fund that invest in such stocks will be more volatile than, and may fluctuate independently of, broad stock market indices such as the Standard & Poor's 500® Index (the "S&P 500 Index").

The additional costs associated with the acquisition of small- and mid-capitalization company stocks include brokerage costs, market impact costs (that is, the increase in market prices which may result when the Fund purchases thinly traded stock) and the effect of the "bid-ask" spread in small- and mid-capitalization company stocks. These costs will be borne by all shareholders and may negatively impact investment performance.

STRUCTURED SECURITIES. The Fund may purchase structured securities. The Fund may invest in structured securities for hedging purposes and to gain exposure to certain countries and currencies. These fixed-income instruments are structured to recast the investment characteristics of the underlying security or reference asset. If the issuer is a unit investment trust or other special purpose vehicle, the structuring will typically involve the deposit with or purchase by such issuer of specified instruments (such as commercial bank loans or securities) and/or the execution of various derivative transactions, and the issuance by that entity of one or more classes of securities (structured securities) backed by, or representing interests in, the underlying instruments. The cash flow on the underlying instruments may be apportioned among the newly issued structured securities to create securities with different investment characteristics, such as varying maturities, payment priorities and interest rate provisions, and the extent of such payments made with respect to structured securities is dependent on the extent of the cash flow on the underlying instruments. Investments in these securities may be structured as a class that is either subordinated or unsubordinated to the right of payment of another class. Subordinated structured securities typically have higher rates of return and present greater risks than unsubordinated structured products.

The Fund's investments in these instruments are indirectly subject to the risks associated with derivative instruments, including, among others, credit risk, default or similar event risk, counterparty risk, interest rate risk, leverage risk and management risk. Because structured securities typically involve no credit enhancement, their credit risk generally will be equivalent to that of the underlying instruments. These securities generally are exempt from registration under the 1933 Act. Accordingly, there may be no established trading market for the securities and they may constitute illiquid investments. Structured securities may entail a greater degree of market risk than other types of debt securities because the investor bears the risk of the underlying security or reference asset.

Structured securities may also be more volatile, less liquid, and more difficult to price accurately than less complex securities or more traditional debt securities.

U.S. GOVERNMENT OBLIGATIONS. Examples of the types of U.S. government obligations that may be acquired by the Fund include U.S. Treasury Bills, Treasury Notes and Treasury Bonds. The Fund also may acquire obligations of Federal Home Loan Banks, Federal Farm Credit Banks, Federal Land Banks, the Federal Housing Administration, Farmers Home Administration, Export-Import Bank of the United States, Small Business Administration, the Federal National Mortgage Association ("Fannie Mae"), the Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae"), General Services Administration, Central Bank for Cooperatives, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac"), Federal Intermediate Credit Banks and the Maritime Administration.

Securities guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. government or by its agencies, instrumentalities or sponsored enterprises also are deemed to include (i) securities for which the payment of principal and interest is backed by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by the U.S. government or by any agency, instrumentality or sponsored enterprise thereof, and (ii) participations in loans made to foreign governments or their agencies that are so guaranteed.

To the extent consistent with its investment objective and strategies, the Fund may invest in a variety of U.S. Treasury obligations and obligations issued by or guaranteed by the U.S. government or by its agencies, instrumentalities or sponsored enterprises. Not all U.S. government obligations carry the same credit support. No assurance can be given that the U.S. government would provide financial support to its agencies, instrumentalities or sponsored enterprises if it were not obligated to do so by law. There is no assurance that these commitments will be undertaken or complied with in the future. The maximum potential liability of the issuers of some U.S. government securities may greatly exceed their current resources, including any legal right to support from the U.S. Treasury. In addition, the secondary market for certain participations in loans made to foreign governments or their agencies may be limited. In the absence of a suitable secondary market, such participations are generally considered illiquid.

Many states grant tax-free status to dividends paid to shareholders of a fund from interest income earned by that fund from direct obligations of the U.S. government, subject in some states to minimum investment requirements that must be met by the fund. Investments in securities issued by Ginnie Mae or Fannie Mae, bankers' acceptances, commercial paper and repurchase agreements collateralized by U.S. Government securities do not generally qualify for tax-free treatment.

VARIABLE AND FLOATING RATE INSTRUMENTS. Variable and floating rate instruments have interest rates that periodically are adjusted either at set intervals or that float at a margin in relation to a generally recognized index rate. These instruments include long-term variable and floating rate bonds (sometimes referred to as "put bonds") where the Fund obtains at the time of purchase the right to put the bond back to the issuer or a third party at par at a specified date and also includes leveraged inverse floating rate instruments ("inverse floaters").

With respect to the variable and floating rate instruments that may be acquired by the Fund, the Adviser will consider the earning power, cash flows and other liquidity ratios of the issuers and guarantors of such instruments and, if the instruments are subject to demand features, will monitor their financial status and ability to meet payment on demand. Where necessary to ensure that a variable or floating rate instrument meets the Fund's quality requirements, the issuer's obligation to pay the principal of the instrument will be backed by an unconditional bank letter or line of credit, guarantee or commitment to lend.

Variable and floating rate instruments that may be purchased by the Fund include variable amount master demand notes, which permit the indebtedness thereunder to vary in addition to providing for periodic adjustments in the interest rate. Variable and floating rate instruments also include leveraged inverse floaters. The interest rate on an inverse floater resets in the opposite direction from the market rate of interest to which the inverse floater is indexed. An inverse floater may be considered to be leveraged to the extent that its interest rate varies by a magnitude that exceeds the magnitude of the change in the index rate of interest. The higher degree of leverage inherent in inverse floaters is associated with greater volatility in their market values. Accordingly, the duration of an inverse floater may exceed its stated final maturity. The Fund may deem the maturity of variable and floating rate instruments to be less than their stated maturities based on their variable and floating rate features and/or their put features. Unrated variable and floating rate instruments will be determined by the Adviser to be of comparable quality at the time of purchase to rated instruments that may be purchased by the Fund.

Variable and floating rate instruments including inverse floaters held by the Fund will be subject to the Fund's limitation on illiquid investments, absent a reliable trading market, when the Fund may not demand payment of the principal amount within seven days. Because there is no active secondary market for certain variable and floating rate instruments, they may be more difficult to sell if the issuer defaults on its payment obligations or during periods when the Fund is not entitled to exercise its demand rights. As a result, the Fund could suffer a loss with respect to these instruments.

Variable and floating rate instruments held by the Fund will be subject to the Fund's limitation on illiquid investments, absent a reliable trading market, when the Fund may not demand payment of the principal amount within seven days. Because there is no active secondary market for certain variable and floating rate instruments, they may be more difficult to sell if the issuer defaults on its payment obligations or during periods when the Fund is not entitled to exercise its demand rights. As a result, the Fund could suffer a loss with respect to these instruments.

WARRANTS. The Fund may purchase warrants and similar rights, which are privileges issued by corporations enabling the owners to subscribe to and purchase a specified number of shares of the corporation at a specified price during a specified period of time. The prices of warrants do not necessarily correlate with the prices of the underlying shares. The purchase of warrants involves the risk that the Fund could lose the purchase value of a warrant if the right to subscribe to additional shares is not exercised prior to the warrant's expiration. Also, the purchase of warrants involves the risk that the effective price paid for the warrant added to the subscription price

of the related security may exceed the value of the subscribed security's market price such as when there is no movement in the level of the underlying security.

YIELDS AND RATINGS. The yields on certain obligations, including the instruments in which the Fund may invest, are dependent on a variety of factors, including general market conditions, conditions in the particular market for the obligation, financial condition of the issuer, size of the offering, maturity of the obligation and ratings of the issue. The ratings of S&P, DBRS Morningstar®, Moody's and Fitch represent their respective opinions as to the quality of the obligations they undertake to rate. Ratings, however, are general and are not absolute standards of quality. Consequently, obligations with the same rating, maturity and interest rate may have different market prices. For a more complete discussion of ratings, see Appendix A to this SAI.

Subject to the limitations stated in the Prospectus, if a security held by the Fund undergoes a rating revision, the Fund may continue to hold the security if the Adviser determine such retention is warranted.

ZERO COUPON AND CAPITAL APPRECIATION BONDS AND PAY-IN-KIND SECURITIES. The Fund may invest in zero coupon bonds, capital appreciation bonds and pay-in-kind ("PIK") securities. Zero coupon and capital appreciation bonds are debt securities issued or sold at a discount from their face value, which do not entitle the holder to any periodic payment of interest prior to maturity or a specified date. The original issue discount varies depending on the time remaining until maturity or cash payment date, prevailing interest rates, the liquidity of the security and the perceived credit quality of the issuer. These securities also may take the form of debt securities that have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons, the coupons themselves or receipts or certificates representing interests in such stripped debt obligations or coupons. The market prices of zero coupon bonds, capital appreciation bonds and PIK securities generally are more volatile than the market prices of interest bearing securities and are likely to respond to a greater degree to changes in interest rates than interest bearing securities having similar maturities and credit quality.

PIK securities may be debt obligations or preferred shares that provide the issuer with the option of paying interest or dividends on such obligations in cash or in the form of additional securities rather than cash. Similar to zero coupon bonds, PIK securities are designed to give an issuer flexibility in managing cash flow. PIK securities that are debt securities can either be senior or subordinated debt and generally trade flat (i.e., without accrued interest). The trading price of PIK debt securities generally reflects the market value of the underlying debt plus an amount representing accrued interest since the last interest payment.

Zero coupon bonds, capital appreciation bonds and PIK securities involve the additional risk that, unlike securities that periodically pay interest to maturity, the Fund will realize no cash until a specified future payment date unless a portion of such securities is sold and, if the issuer of such securities defaults, the Fund may obtain no return at all on its investment. In addition, even though such securities do not provide for the payment of current interest in cash, the Fund is nonetheless required to accrue income on such investments for each taxable year and generally is required to distribute such accrued amounts (net of deductible expenses, if any) to avoid being subject to tax. Because no cash generally is received at the time of the accrual, the Fund may be required to liquidate other portfolio securities to obtain sufficient cash to satisfy federal tax distribution requirements applicable to the Fund.

Disclosure of Portfolio Holdings

The Board has adopted policies with respect to the disclosure of the Fund's portfolio holdings by the Fund, the Adviser, or their affiliates. These policies provide that the Fund's portfolio holdings information generally may not be disclosed to any party prior to the information becoming public. Certain limited exceptions are described below. These policies apply to disclosures to all categories of persons, including individual investors, institutional investors, intermediaries who sell shares of the Fund, third parties providing services to the Fund (accounting agent, print vendors, etc.), rating and ranking organizations (Lipper, Morningstar, etc.) and affiliated persons of the Fund.

The Fund's Chief Compliance Officer is responsible for monitoring the Fund's compliance with these policies and for providing regular reports (at least annually) to the Board regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the policy and recommend changes, if necessary.

Non-Public Disclosures

The Adviser may authorize the disclosure of non-public portfolio holdings information under certain limited circumstances. The Fund's policies provide that non-public disclosures of the Fund's portfolio holdings may only be made if: (i) the Fund has a "legitimate business purpose" (as determined by the President of the Fund) for making such disclosure; and (ii) the party receiving the non-public information enters into a confidentiality agreement, which includes a duty not to trade on the non-public information and describes any compensation to be paid to the Fund or any "affiliated person" of the Adviser, including any arrangement to maintain assets in the Fund or in other investment companies or accounts managed by the Adviser or by any "affiliated person" of the Adviser.

The Adviser will consider any actual or potential conflicts of interest between the Adviser and the Fund's shareholders and will act in the best interest of the Fund's shareholders with respect to any such disclosure of portfolio holdings information. If a potential conflict can be resolved in a manner that does not present detrimental effects to the Fund's shareholders, the Adviser may authorize the release of portfolio holdings information. Conversely, if the potential conflict cannot be resolved in a manner that does not present detrimental effects to the Fund's shareholders, the Adviser will not authorize such release.

Ongoing Arrangements to Disclose Portfolio Holdings

As authorized by the Board and/or the Fund's executive officers, the Fund may periodically disclose non-public portfolio holdings on a confidential basis to various service providers that require such information in order to assist the Fund in its day-to-day operations, as well as public information to certain ratings organizations. These entities are described in the following table. The table also includes

information as to the timing of these entities receiving the portfolio holdings information from the Fund. In none of these arrangements does the Fund or any "affiliated person" of the Adviser receive any compensation, including any arrangement to maintain assets in the Fund or in other investment companies or accounts managed by the Adviser or by any "affiliated person" of the Adviser.

Type of Service Provider	Name of Service Provider	Timing of Release of Portfolio Holdings Information
Adviser	X-Square Capital, LLC	Daily
Transfer Agent / Administrator / Fund Accounting / Chief Compliance Officer	ALPS Fund Services, Inc.	Daily
Custodian	U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association	Daily
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	Kevane Grant Thornton, LLP.	Annual Reporting Period: one business day after end of reporting period. Periodically, as necessary for performance of ongoing audit services.
Legal Counsel	Thompson Hine LLP	Up to 30 days before filing with the SEC. Periodically, as necessary for performance of legal services.
Distributor	ALPS Distributors, Inc.	Monthly

These service providers are required to keep all non-public information confidential and are prohibited from trading based on the information or otherwise using the information, except as necessary in providing services to the Fund.

There is no guarantee that the Fund's policies on use and dissemination of holdings information will protect the Fund from the potential misuse of holdings by individuals or firms in possession of such information.

Portfolio holdings are currently disclosed through required filings with the SEC. The Fund files its portfolio holdings with the SEC and the holdings are made publicly available twice each fiscal year on Form N-CSR (with respect to each annual period and semiannual period) and twice each fiscal year on Form N-PORT (with respect to the first and third quarters of the Fund's fiscal year). Shareholders may obtain the Fund's Forms N-CSR and N-PORT filings on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

VALUATION OF PORTFOLIO SECURITIES

The NAV of each share class of the Fund is determined and the shares of the Fund is priced as of the valuation time indicated in the Prospectus on each business day ("Business Day"). A "Business Day" is a day on which the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the "NYSE") is open. Currently, the NYSE will not open in observance of the following holidays: New Year's Day, Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr. Day, Presidents' Day, Good Friday, Memorial Day, Juneteenth National Independence Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and Christmas Day, or, when one of these holidays fall on a Saturday or Sunday, the preceding Friday or subsequent Monday. This closing schedule is subject to change.

For purposes of computing the NAV of each share class of the Fund, securities are valued at market value as of the close of regular trading on the NYSE (normally, 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time) on each business day that the NYSE is open. Securities listed on the NYSE or other exchanges are valued on the basis of their last sale prices on the exchanges on which they are primarily traded. However, if the last sale price on the NYSE is different than the last sale price on any other exchange, the NYSE price will be used. If there are no sales on that day, the securities are valued at the closing bid price on the NYSE or other primary exchange for that day. Securities traded in the over-the-counter market are valued based on the "bid evaluation" price provided by third-party pricing providers. Securities for which market quotations are not readily available, and securities for which it is determined that market quotations do not accurately reflect their value, are valued at fair value as determined in good faith by or under the supervision of the Fund's officers in a manner specifically authorized by the Board. The Board will annually review the reliability of the method used to value portfolio securities for which market quotations are not readily available.

PERFORMANCE

From time to time, the "average annual total return" and "total return" of an investment in each class of the Fund's shares may be advertised. An explanation of how total returns are calculated and the components of those calculations are set forth below.

Total Returns - General. Total return information may be useful to investors in reviewing the Fund's performance. The Fund's advertisements of its performance must, under applicable SEC rules, include the average annual total returns of the Fund for the 1-, 5-, and 10-year periods (or the life of the applicable Fund, if less) as of the most recently ended calendar quarter. This enables an investor to compare the Fund's performance to the performance of other funds for the same periods. However, a number of factors should be considered before using such information as a basis for comparison with other investments. Investments in the Fund are not insured; their total return is not guaranteed and normally will fluctuate on a daily basis. When redeemed, an investor's shares may be worth more or less than their original cost. Total return for any given past period is not a prediction or representation by the Fund of future

rates of return on its shares. The total returns of the shares of the Fund are affected by portfolio quality, portfolio maturity, the type of investments the Fund holds, and operating expenses.

Total Returns Before Taxes. The "average annual total return before taxes" of each share class of the Fund is an average annual compounded rate of return before taxes for each year in a specified number of years. It is the rate of return based on the change in value of a hypothetical initial investment of \$1,000 ("P" in the formula below) held for a number of years ("n") to achieve an Ending Redeemable Value ("ERV"), according to the following formula:

$$(ERV/P)^{1/n}$$
-1 = Average Annual Total Return Before Taxes

The cumulative "total return before taxes" calculation measures the change in value of a hypothetical investment of \$1,000 over an entire period greater than one year. Its calculation uses some of the same factors as average annual total return, but it does not average the rate of return on an annual basis. Total return is determined as follows:

$$ERV - P = Total Return Before Taxes$$

Total Returns After Taxes on Distributions. The "average annual total return after taxes on distributions" of the Fund is an average annual compounded rate of return after taxes on distributions for each year in a specified number of years. It is the rate of return based on the change in value of a hypothetical initial investment of \$1,000 ("P" in the formula below) held for a number of years ("n") to achieve an ending value at the end of the periods shown ("ATVD"), according to the following formula:

$$(ATVD/P)^{1/n}$$
-1 = Average Annual Total Return After Taxes on Distributions

The cumulative "total return after taxes on distributions" calculation measures the change in value of a hypothetical investment of \$1,000 over an entire period greater than one year. Its calculation uses some of the same factors as average annual total return after taxes on distributions, but it does not average the rate of return on an annual basis. Total return after taxes on distributions is determined as follows:

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{ATVD} \, \underline{-P} = \textit{Total Return After Taxes on Distributions} \\ P \end{array}$$

Total Returns After Taxes on Distributions and Redemptions. The "average annual total return after taxes on distributions and redemptions" of the Fund is an average annual compounded rate of return after taxes on distributions and redemption for each year in a specified number of years. It is the rate of return based on the change in value of a hypothetical initial investment of \$1,000 ("P" in the formula below) held for a number of years ("n") to achieve an ending value at the end of the periods shown ("ATVDR"), according to the following formula:

$$(ATVDR/P)^{1/n}$$
-1 = Average Annual Total Return After Taxes on Distributions and Redemptions

The cumulative "total return after taxes on distributions and redemptions" calculation measures the change in value of a hypothetical investment of \$1,000 over an entire period greater than one year. Its calculation uses some of the same factors as average annual total return after taxes on distributions and redemptions, but it does not average the rate of return on an annual basis. Total return after taxes on distributions is determined as follows:

$$\begin{array}{l} \text{ATVDR} \, \underline{-P} = \textit{Total Return After Taxes on Distributions and Redemptions} \\ P \end{array}$$

From time to time the Fund may also quote an "average annual total return at NAV" or a cumulative "total return at NAV." It is based on the difference in NAV at the beginning and the end of the period for a hypothetical investment (without considering sales charges, if any) and takes into consideration the reinvestment of dividends and capital gains distributions.

Calculation of Portfolio Turnover Rate. The portfolio turnover rate for the Fund is calculated by dividing the lesser of purchases or sales of portfolio investments for the reporting period by the monthly average value of the portfolio investments owned during the reporting period. The calculation excludes all securities, including options, whose maturities or expiration dates at the time of acquisition are one year or less. Portfolio turnover may vary from year to year as well as within a particular year, and may be affected by changes in the holdings of specific issuers, changes in country and currency weightings, cash requirements for redemption of shares and by requirements that enable the Fund to receive favorable tax treatment.

The Fund is not restricted by policy with regard to portfolio turnover and will make changes in its investment portfolio from time to time as business and economic conditions as well as market prices may dictate.

ADDITIONAL PURCHASE, EXCHANGE AND REDEMPTION INFORMATION

In connection with certain servicing plans, the Fund has made certain commitments that: (i) provide for one or more brokers to accept on the Fund's behalf, purchase, exchange and redemption orders; (ii) authorize such brokers to designate other intermediaries to accept purchase, exchange and redemption orders on the Fund's behalf; (iii) provide that the Fund will be deemed to have received a purchase, exchange or redemption order when an authorized broker or, if applicable, a broker's authorized designee, accepts the order;

and (iv) provide that customer orders will be priced at the Fund's NAV next computed after they are accepted by an authorized broker or the broker's authorized designee.

When the NYSE is closed, or when trading is restricted for any reason other than its customary weekend or holiday closings, or under emergency circumstances as determined by the SEC to warrant such action, the Fund may not be able to accept purchase, exchange or redemption requests.

The Fund has elected, pursuant to Rule 18f-1 under the 1940 Act, to redeem shares of the Fund solely in cash up to the lesser of \$250,000 or 1% of the net asset value of the Fund during any 90-day period for any one shareholder. The remaining portion of the redemption may be made in securities or other property, valued for this purpose as they are valued in computing the NAV of the Fund. Shareholders receiving securities or other property on redemption will generally realize a gain or loss for tax purposes and may incur additional costs as well as the associated inconveniences of holding and/or disposing of such securities or other property.

DIVIDENDS, DISTRIBUTIONS AND TAXES

Dividends and Distributions

The Fund passes along its investment earnings to you in the form of dividends and capital gains distributions. Dividends are the net income from investments after expenses. The Fund declares and pays dividends from its net investment income at least annually. If there are any short-term capital gains on the sale of investments, they are distributed as necessary. Normally, the Fund will pay any long-term capital gains once a year.

You can receive dividends and distributions in one of the following ways:

- **Reinvestment.** You can automatically reinvest your dividends and distributions in additional shares of the Fund. This option is followed by the Fund unless you indicate another choice on your account application.
- Cash. Please contact your broker-dealer or financial intermediary for additional details.
- Partial reinvestment. The Fund will automatically reinvest the dividends in additional shares of the Fund and pay your capital gain distributions to you in cash, or the Fund will automatically reinvest your capital gain distributions and send you your dividends in cash.
- **Direct deposit.** In most cases, you can automatically transfer dividends and distributions to your bank checking or savings account. Under normal circumstances, the Transfer Agent will transfer the funds within seven days of the payment date. To receive dividends and distributions this way, the name on your bank account must be the same as the registration on your Fund account.

You may choose your distribution method on your original account application. If you would like to change the option you selected, please call the Fund at 1-833-X-SQUARE or contact your Authorized Dealer.

Taxes

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations relevant under current law, which may be subject to change in the future. Except where otherwise indicated, the discussion relates to investors who are individual U.S. citizens or residents (not including bona fide residents of Puerto Rico) or taxable entities created or organized under the laws of a State of the United States (collectively, the "U.S. Investors"). The Fund will be treated as a foreign corporation not engaged in a trade or business in the United States for purposes of the U.S. Code and does not intend to derive income treated as effectively connected with a trade or business in the United States. As a foreign corporation not engaged in a trade or business in the United States, the Fund will only be subject to United States federal income taxes if it realizes certain items of U.S. source income of a fixed or determinable annual or periodic nature, in which case the Fund will be subject to withholding of United States federal income tax at a 30% gross rate on such U.S. source income (not including interest received by the Fund on certain registered obligations). Moreover, dividends paid by the Fund should be considered to be derived from Puerto Rico sources and thus, foreign source for U.S. Investors. You should consult your tax adviser for further information regarding federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences relevant to your specific situation, including the consequences of investing in a passive foreign investment company ("PFIC").

Based on the proposed activities of the Fund, its ownership structure and its classification as a foreign corporation, under the U.S. Code, the Fund will be treated as a PFIC. In the case of individuals who are bona fide residents of Puerto Rico or entities organized under the laws of Puerto Rico for which investment in the Fund is not part of their trade or business (the "Puerto Rico Investors"), distributions paid by the Fund to the Puerto Rico Investors or gains from the disposition of Fund shares should not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes. Also, under proposed regulation under the U.S. Code, individuals who are bona fide residents of Puerto Rico are not subject to the PFIC provisions if they were bona fide residents of Puerto Rico during the entire time they held the shares of the Fund. Generally, the U.S. federal income tax treatment for U.S. Investors is as set forth below.

Distributions. The Fund contemplates declaring as dividends each year all or substantially all of its taxable income, including its net capital gain (the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss). In general, the Fund's distributions will be taxable to you for federal, state and local income tax purposes. Distributions are taxable whether they are received in cash or reinvested in Fund shares. For federal income tax purposes, Fund distributions are generally taxable to you as ordinary income.

Notwithstanding the above, under the PFIC rules, a U.S. Investor, i.e., a citizen or resident of the United States, a U.S. domestic corporation, or an estate or trust that is taxed as a resident of the United States (such a shareholder is referred to in this section as a "U.S. shareholder") who receives a distribution from a PFIC in excess of 125% of the average amount of distributions such shareholder has received from the PFIC during the three preceding taxable years (or shorter period if the U.S. shareholder has not held the stock for three years), the U.S. shareholder is treated as receiving an excess distribution equal to such excess. In general, an excess distribution is taxed as ordinary income, and to the extent it is attributed to one or more earlier years in which the PFIC shares were held, it will constitute a deferred tax amount subject to the highest tax rate in effect for such earlier year plus an interest charge. However, as explained before, based on the Fund's intention of distributing all income currently, no portion of any dividend should be treated as a deferred tax amount.

You should note that if you purchase shares of the Fund just before a distribution, the purchase price will reflect the amount of the upcoming distribution, but you will be taxed on the entire amount of the distribution received, even though, as an economic matter, the distribution simply constitutes a return of capital. This adverse result is known as "buying into a dividend."

Sales, Exchanges and Redemptions. You will generally recognize taxable gain or loss for federal income tax purposes on a sale, exchange or redemption of your shares based on the difference between your tax basis in the shares and the amount you receive for them. U.S. shareholders that dispose of PFIC stock at a gain are treated as receiving an excess distribution equal to such gain. As discussed above, an excess distribution is taxed as ordinary income, and to the extent it is attributed to one or more earlier years in which the PFIC shares were held, it will be subject to the highest tax rate in effect for such earlier year plus an interest charge. Additionally, any loss realized on a disposition of shares of the Fund may be disallowed under "wash sale" rules to the extent the shares disposed of are replaced with other shares of the Fund within a period of 61 days beginning 30 days before and ending 30 days after the shares are disposed of, such as pursuant to a dividend reinvestment in shares of the Fund. If disallowed, the loss will be reflected in an upward adjustment to the basis of the shares acquired.

The Fund (or relevant broker or financial adviser) is required to compute and report to the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") and furnish to Fund shareholders cost basis information when such shares are sold or exchanged. The Fund has elected to use the average cost method, unless you instruct the Fund to use a different IRS-accepted cost basis method, or choose to specifically identify your shares at the time of each sale or exchange. If your account is held by your broker or other financial adviser, they may select a different cost basis method. In these cases, please contact your broker or other financial adviser to obtain information with respect to the available methods and elections for your account. You should carefully review the cost basis information provided by the Fund and make any additional basis, holding period or other adjustments that are required when reporting these amounts on your federal and state income tax returns. Fund shareholders should consult with their tax advisers to determine the best IRS-accepted cost basis method for their tax situation and to obtain more information about how the cost basis reporting requirements apply to them.

IRAs and Other Tax-Qualified Plans. The one major exception to the tax principles described above is that distributions on, and sales, exchanges and redemptions of, shares of the Fund held in an IRA (or other tax-qualified plan) will not be currently taxable, unless you borrowed to acquire the shares.

State and Local Taxes. Distributions of ordinary income and capital gains, and gains from the sale, exchange or redemption of your Fund shares, are generally subject to state and local taxes. You should consult your tax adviser regarding the tax status of distributions in your state and locality.

PUERTO RICO TAXES

The following discussion summarizes the material Puerto Rico tax considerations that may be relevant to prospective investors in the Fund. The discussion of Puerto Rico tax matters is based on the current provisions of the Puerto Rico Internal Revenue Code of 2011, as amended (the "Puerto Rico Code") and the regulations promulgated or applicable thereunder, the administrative pronouncements issued by the Puerto Rico Treasury Department (the "PRTD"), the Puerto Rico Municipal Code, as amended (the "Municipal Code") and the Puerto Rico Investment Companies Act of 2013, as amended ("PRICA"). No attempt has been made, however, to discuss all Puerto Rico income or other tax matters that may affect the Fund or the investors.

This summary does not attempt to discuss all tax consequences to investors that may be subject to special rules of taxation, such as partnerships or entities that are treated as partnerships for Puerto Rico income tax purposes, "Special Partnerships," "Subchapter E Corporations" (Corporations of Individuals), life insurance companies, registered investment companies, tax exempt organizations, individuals considered bona fide residents of Puerto Rico under Section 937 of the U.S. Code who own 10% or more of the voting shares of the Fund, estates and trusts.

For purposes of the following discussion, the term "Puerto Rico Corporation" is used to refer to a corporation organized under the laws of Puerto Rico and the term "foreign corporation" is used to refer to a corporation organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than Puerto Rico.

The statements that follow are based on the existing provisions of such statutes and regulations, and judicial decisions and administrative pronouncements, all of which are subject to change (even with retroactive effect). A prospective investor should be aware that an opinion of counsel represents only such counsel's best legal judgment and that it is not binding on the PRTD, any municipality or agency of Puerto Rico or the courts. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the opinions set forth herein, if challenged, would be sustained.

Puerto Rico Taxation of the Fund

Income Taxes. Pursuant to Administrative Determination No. 19-04 issued by the PRTD on September 4, 2019 (the "Puerto Rico Treasury Administrative Determination"), the Fund is deemed to be, for taxation purposes, a registered investment company under PRICA. As such, the Fund will be exempt from Puerto Rico income tax for a taxable year if it distributes to its shareholders at least 90% of its net income for the taxable year within the time period provided by the Puerto Rico Code (the "90% Distribution Requirement"). In determining its net income for purposes of the 90% Distribution Requirement, the Fund shall not take into account capital gains and losses and certain items of income (including interest) that are exempt from taxation under the Puerto Rico Code. The Fund intends to meet the 90% Distribution Requirement to be exempt from Puerto Rico income tax.

Property Taxes. Under the provisions of the Municipal Code, the Fund will be subject to property taxes. However, property of the Fund that consists of repurchase agreements, obligations of the Government of Puerto Rico or the U.S. government, and stocks and bonds of domestic or foreign corporations are exempt from property taxes imposed by the Municipal Code.

Municipal License Taxes. Pursuant to PRICA, investment companies, such as the Fund, are not subject to municipal license taxes; provided that they are registered under PRICA. Because municipalities have the authority to impose taxes that are not incompatible with the taxes imposed by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the holding of the Puerto Rico Treasury Administrative Determination should be construed as exempting the Fund from the municipal license tax imposed by the Municipal Code.

Puerto Rico Taxation of Fund Shareholders

Pursuant to the Puerto Rico Treasury Administrative Determination, the Fund is deemed to be, for taxation purposes, a registered investment company under PRICA. The discussion below assumes that dividends distributed by the Fund will be treated as dividends distributed by a registered investment company under PRICA.

Regular Income Taxes. Dividend distributions by the Fund would be classified as "Capital Gain Dividends" or "Ordinary Dividends" as discussed below.

Ordinary Dividends and Capital Gain Dividends are included in income and subject to Puerto Rico income tax (as ordinary gross income or capital gain, respectively) regardless of whether they are reinvested in additional shares of the Fund pursuant to the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan (if and when such plan is established). Distributions that exceed the earnings and profits of the Fund will be treated as a tax-free return of capital to a shareholder to the extent of the shareholder's basis in the shares of the Fund, and any excess will be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of such shares.

Individual Residents of Puerto Rico and Puerto Rico Corporations. Ordinary Dividends received by individual residents of Puerto Rico will be subject to the special income tax rate provided under Section 1023.06 of the Puerto Rico Code, currently 15%, to be withheld at source by the Fund (or its paying agent), rather than to the regular tax on ordinary income.

An Ordinary Dividend received by a Puerto Rico Corporation will be subject to regular and alternative minimum tax. An Ordinary Dividend received by a Puerto Rico Corporation will qualify for 85% dividends received deduction. Puerto Rico Corporations will not be eligible for the 15% preferential tax applicable in the case of individual residents of Puerto Rico.

Individual residents of Puerto Rico are subject to alternate basic tax if their regular tax liability is less than the alternate basic tax liability. The alternate basic tax rates range from 1% to 24% depending on the alternate basic tax net income. The alternate basic tax net income is determined by adjusting the individual's net income subject to regular income tax rates by, among other items, adding: (i) certain income exempt from the regular income tax and (ii) income subject to special tax rates as provided in the Puerto Rico Code such as: Ordinary Dividends, Capital Gain Dividends and long-term capital gains recognized by individuals on the sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of the shares of the Fund. It should be noted that Exempt Dividends distributed by the Fund are not subject to alternate basic tax.

Capital Gain Dividends will qualify for the special income tax rate on capital gains of 15% in the case of individual residents of Puerto Rico and for the alternative tax rate of 20% in the case of Puerto Rico Corporations.

Individuals not Residents of Puerto Rico. Individuals who are not residents of Puerto Rico will be subject to Puerto Rico income tax on Ordinary Dividends at the rate of 15% to be withheld at source by the Fund or its paying agent. No Puerto Rico income tax should apply on Capital Gain Dividends because such dividends are treated as long-term capital gains from sources outside of Puerto Rico. By purchasing the shares of the Fund, each individual investor who is not a resident of Puerto Rico will be irrevocably agreeing to the 15% Puerto Rico income tax withholding on all Ordinary Dividends.

Foreign Corporations. The income taxation of Ordinary Dividends and Capital Gain Dividends paid by the Fund to a foreign corporation will depend on whether or not the foreign corporation is engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico in the taxable year of the dividend.

A foreign corporation that is not engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will be subject to Puerto Rico income tax on Ordinary Dividends at the income tax rate of 10% and no Puerto Rico income tax should apply on Capital Gain Dividends because such dividends are treated as long-term capital gains from sources outside of Puerto Rico.

Foreign corporations that are engaged in trade or business in Puerto Rico are subject to the applicable regular Puerto Rico corporate income tax rates on their net income that is effectively connected with the active conduct of a trade or business in Puerto Rico. This income will include all net income from sources within Puerto Rico, such as the Ordinary Dividends, and certain items of net income from sources outside Puerto Rico that are effectively connected with the active conduct of a trade or business in Puerto Rico, which may include Capital Gain Dividends in the case of foreign corporations engaged in a financing, lending or trading business in Puerto Rico. Such net income would be subject to the same rules applicable to Puerto Rico Corporations (including the dividends received deduction and 20% preferential tax on capital gains, discussed above). In general, foreign corporations that are engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico are subject to tax at gradual corporate income tax rates that range from 18.5% to 37.5%, plus a 10% branch profits tax.

Special withholding tax considerations. By purchasing shares of the Fund, investors who are individual residents of Puerto Rico, Puerto Rico Corporations and foreign corporations engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will be irrevocably agreeing that all Ordinary Dividends distributed to them will be subject to a 15% Puerto Rico income tax withholding, which will be automatically withheld at the source by the Fund (or its paying agent).

Gain on Disposition of Shares of the Fund

General. Gain recognized by an investor from the sale, exchange or other disposition (including a redemption that is not essentially equivalent to a dividend) of shares of the Fund will be treated as a capital gain for shareholders who hold the shares of the Fund as a capital asset and as a long-term capital gain if the shares of the Fund has been held by the shareholder for more than one year prior to such sale or exchange.

Individual Residents of Puerto Rico and Puerto Rico Corporations. Gain recognized by a shareholder from the sale, exchange or other disposition (including a redemption that is not essentially equivalent to a dividend) of shares in the Fund will be treated as a capital gain for shareholders who hold such shares as a capital asset and as a long-term capital gain if such shares have been held by the shareholder for more than one (1) year prior to such sale or exchange. Long-term capital gains recognized by individual residents of Puerto Rico on the sale, exchange or other disposition of their shares of the Fund will be subject to a 15% income tax rate. Alternatively, the individual residents of Puerto Rico may elect to include such long-term capital gains as ordinary income and be subject to the regular income tax rates imposed under the Puerto Rico Code. Long-term capital gains recognized by a Puerto Rico Corporation on the sale, exchange or other disposition of its shares in the Fund will be subject to an alternative 20% income tax rate.

Individuals not Residents of Puerto Rico. Individuals who are not residents of Puerto Rico will not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax on the sale or exchange of shares of the Fund if the gain resulting therefrom constitutes income from sources outside Puerto Rico. Generally, gain on the sale or exchange of shares of the Fund by individuals not residing in Puerto Rico constitutes income from sources outside Puerto Rico and, therefore, such gain is not subject to Puerto Rico income taxes in the case of such individuals.

Foreign Corporations. Foreign corporations that are not engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax on any capital gain realized on the sale or exchange of shares of the Fund because such gains should constitute income from sources outside Puerto Rico. A foreign corporation that is engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will generally be subject to Puerto Rico corporate income tax on any gain realized on the sale or exchange of shares of the Fund if such gain is: (1) from sources within Puerto Rico, or (2) from sources outside Puerto Rico and effectively connected with a trade or business in Puerto Rico. Any such gain will qualify for an alternative tax of 20% if it qualifies as a long-term capital gain. In general, a foreign corporation that is engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will also be subject to a 10% branch profits tax.

Puerto Rico IRA Account Owners or Beneficiaries. Amounts distributed to an IRA organized through a trust established under the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico would not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax. Income derived by IRA accounts from their shares of the Fund, and distributions by IRA trusts to IRA account beneficiaries, will be subject to the tax treatment afforded under the Puerto Rico Code to IRA trusts and their beneficiaries, as disclosed in the offering documents for each IRA trust.

Puerto Rico Code Qualified Plans. Distributions on, and sales, exchanges and redemptions of, shares of the Fund held by a Puerto Rico qualified plan would not be subject to Puerto Rico income tax. Puerto Rico qualified plan lump-sum distributions representing the entire benefit paid or made available to a participant or his beneficiary within a single taxable year, in excess of such taxpayer's tax basis, which are made: (i) as a result of separation of employment for any reason or (ii) the plan termination, would be considered as a long-term capital gain subject to a special income tax rate of 20%. However, if the Puerto Rico qualified plan lump-sum distribution additionally complies with the following requirements: (i) the qualified plan trust making the distribution is organized under the laws of the Government of Puerto Rico or has a Puerto Rico resident trustee and uses such trustee as a payment agent and (ii) at least ten percent (10%) of all trust assets attributable to Puerto Rico resident participants, determined based on the average balance of the trust investments during the plan year during which the distribution is made and each of the two plan years preceding the date of the distribution, has been invested in registered investment companies organized under the laws of Puerto Rico and subject to taxation under Puerto Rico Code Section 1112.01, such as the Fund, or other assets based in Puerto Rico as provided in the Puerto Rico Code,

the regulations promulgated under the Puerto Rico Code or any Circular Letter issued by the Puerto Rico Treasury Department Secretary, or in the case of defined contribution plans where separate accounts are maintained for each participant or beneficiary, the "property located in Puerto Rico" investment requirement may be met with respect to assets credited to the account of the participant or beneficiary, the applicable Puerto Rico income tax rate on these lump-sum distributions would be 10%.

Estate and Gift Taxes. Puerto Rico estate and gift taxes imposed by the Puerto Rico Code have been repealed with respect to transfers by inheritance or gift occurring after December 31, 2017.

Municipal License Taxes. Under the Municipal Code, all dividends distributed by the Fund to Puerto Rico Corporations and foreign corporations that are engaged in a trade or business in Puerto Rico will form part of their "volume of business" and, therefore, may be subject to a municipal license tax of up to 1.5%, in the case of such shareholders that are engaged in a financial business, or of up to 0.5%, in the case of such shareholders engaged in non-financial businesses. Individuals will not be subject to a municipal license tax on the Fund's distributions.

Property Taxes. Under the provisions of the Municipal Code, the shares of the Fund are exempt from Puerto Rico personal property taxes in the hands of the Fund's shareholders.

The discussion contained in this section is a general and abbreviated summary of certain Puerto Rico tax considerations affecting the Fund and the investors, and it is not intended as tax advice or to address a shareholder's particular circumstances. Investors are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding the tax consequences of investing in the Fund.

MANAGERS AND OFFICERS

Board of Managers.

Overall responsibility for management of the Fund rests with the members of the Board (the "Managers"), who are elected by the shareholders of the Fund, unless appointed to fill a vacancy in accordance with the limited liability company agreement of the Fund and the 1940 Act. The Fund is managed by the Board in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. There are currently four (4) Managers, three (3) of whom are not "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Fund (the "Independent Managers"). The Managers, in turn, elect the officers of the Fund to supervise actively its day-to-day operations.

Independent Managers

Name, Birth Year and Address ¹	Position(s) Held with Fund	Term of Office and Length of Time Served ²	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Funds in Fund Complex Overseen by Manager ³	Other Directorships Held by Manager ⁴
Ramón Ponte (1958)	Manager	Since April 2022	Independent consultant since 2011; Board Member and Chair of the Audit Committee, Bancredito International Bank and Trust, since 2014; Board Member, Puerto Rico CPA Society, from 2013 to 2019; Board President, Puerto Rico CPA Society, from 2017 to 2018; Board Member, Puerto Rico CPA Society Foundation, since 2019; Chairman, Puerto Rico CPA Society Foundation, since 2020, Board Member, Fundación Intellectus, since 2020; Managing Member, BRAG BP LLC, since January, 2021.	1	X-Square Series Trust
Denisse Rodríguez (1984)	Manager	Since April 2022	Executive Director, Puerto Rico Science, Technology & Research Trust, since 2015; Chief Operating Director, CodeTrotters, from 2015 to 2017.	1	X-Square Series Trust
Luis Roig (1959)	Manager	Since June 2019	Managing Director and CFO, Santander Securities LLC from 2013 until 2016; Chief Financial Officer, Americas Leading Finance LLC since 2016.	1	X-Square Series Trust

Name, Birth Year and Address	Position(s) Held with Fund	Term of Office and Length of Time Served ²	Principal Occupation(s) During Past 5 Years	Number of Funds in Fund Complex Overseen by Manager	Other Directorships Held by Manager ³
Ignacio Canto (1983)	Manager	Since January	President, X-Square Capital, LLC since 2013.	1	Director of X2
(1763)		2019	2013.		Alternative
					Dividend
					Alpha Fund,
					Inc. and
					Interested
					Trustee of X-
					Square Series
					Trust

- Each Manager may be contacted by writing to the Manager, Centro Internacional de Mercadeo II, 90 Carr. 165, Suite 803, Guaynabo, PR 00968.
- Each Manager holds office until he or she dies, adjudicated incompetent, voluntarily withdraws, is removed, certified as mentally or physically incapable to perform their duties, declared bankrupt, has a receiver appointed to administer the property or affairs of such Manager, reaches a mandatory age for retirement, or ceases to be a Manager under the Puerto Rico General Corporations Law.
- 3 The "Fund Complex" consists of the Fund.
- 4 Directorships of companies required to report to the SEC under the 1934 Act (i.e., "public companies") or other investment companies registered under the 1940 Act.
- An "interested person," as defined by the 1940 Act. Mr. Canto is deemed to be an "interested" Manager because he is the owner of all membership interests of the Adviser, and also serves as its President, Treasurer and sole director.

The Board believes that each of the Managers' experience, qualifications, attributes and skills on an individual basis and in combination with those of the other Managers lead to the conclusion that each Manager should serve in such capacity. Among the attributes common to all Managers is the ability to review critically, evaluate, question and discuss information provided to them, to interact effectively with the other Managers, the Adviser, other service providers, counsel and the independent registered public accounting firm, and to exercise effective business judgment in the performance of their duties as Managers. A Manager's ability to perform his or her duties effectively may have been attained through the Manager's business, consulting and/or public service; experience as a board member of the Fund, other investment funds, or non-profit entities or other organizations; education or professional training; and/or other life experiences. In addition to these shared characteristics, set forth below is a brief discussion of the specific experience, qualifications, attributes or skills of each Manager.

Independent Managers

Ramón Ponte has been a Manager since April 2022.

Mr. Ponte has worked as an independent consultant with a variety of companies and the Puerto Rican government, principally on reporting financial matters since 2011. He resides in San Juan, Puerto Rico. Mr. Ponte practiced public accounting for over 30 years. Mr. Ponte joined PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP ("PwC") upon his graduation from college. His career at PwC allowed him the opportunity to constantly interact with top management and the boards of clients primarily in the financial services sector both in Puerto Rico and Latin America. Mr. Ponte currently serves on the Board of Directors and is the Chair of the Audit committee for Bancredito International Bank and Trust. Mr. Ponte served as a Board Member and acted as President of the Board for Puerto Rico CPA Society from 2013 to 2019 and from 2017 to 2018, respectfully. Mr. Ponte currently serves as a Board Member and acted as Chairman of the Board for Puerto Rico CPA Society Foundation since 2019 and 2020, respectively. Mr. Ponte has also served on a Board Member for Fundaction Intellectus, a non-profit organization supporting health sciences education and research, since 2020. Mr. Ponte is a Managing Member of BRAG LLC, a family investment company that was created in 2020, but is currently inactive. Mr. Ponte has BS in Economics Degree from The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, and an MBA from the University of Chicago.

Denisse Rodríguez has been a manager since April 2022.

Ms. Rodríguez currently serves as the Executive Director for the Puerto Rico Science Technology & Research Trust and has held that position since 2015. In that capacity, Ms. Rodríguez has held roles as an Ecosystem Builder, Strategy Lead and Designer, all of which she has performed with great success and outcomes. Ms. Rodríguez was also appointed to many representative roles with businesses outside of the company, including acting as a Delegate for the Americas Competitiveness Exchange Entrepreneurship & Innovation in Israel and Germany. Ms. Rodríguez also was selected as the Vice President of the business incubator Kingbird Innovation Center Board of Directors.

Ms. Rodríguez also served as Chief Operating Officer for CodeTrotters from 2015 to 2017. In that role, Ms. Rodríguez designed strategies to build the first coding academy in Puerto Rico, and she expanded the program throughout the Caribbean and Latin America. Ms. Rodríguez not only helped build a network of global startups to aid in offering opportunities to new talent in the tech arena, but she also designed and implemented the administrative and operation processes to further expand the program's growth.

Luis Roig has been a Manager since June 2019.

Mr. Roig is the Chief Financial Officer in Americas Leading Finance LLC. From 2001 to 2016, Mr. Roig was the Managing Director and Chief Financial Officer of Santander Securities LLC ("Santander") responsible for the Puerto Rico, Miami and North East businesses' daily financial accounting processes, financial and operating budgets, monthly financial reporting and analysis to management and Board of Directors, regulatory compliance reporting, and compliance with all federal and state tax laws and

regulations. He also acted as President (2010-2011), Chief Compliance Officer (2011-2012) and Chief Risk Officer (2016) of Santander. From 1996 to 2000 he was a Vice President and Comptroller of Santander.

Prior to working with Santander, Mr. Roig was the Comptroller of The Bank and Trust of Puerto Rico and Oriental Bank and Trust. Before joining Oriental Bank and Trust, he was an Audit Manager at Arthur Andersen & Co. specializing in financial institutions. Mr. Roig is a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA), member of the Puerto Rico Society of Certified Public Accountants and of the American Institute of CPAs. He has a BSBA in Accounting from the Interamerican University of Puerto Rico.

Interested Manager

Ignacio Canto has been a Manager since January 2019.

Mr. Canto was Executive Vice President and Treasurer of Government Development Bank for Puerto Rico (GDB) from August 2010 until December 31, 2012. In such capacity, he was responsible for GDB's asset and liability management, and for pricing and structuring over \$18 billion of bonds issued by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and its instrumentalities. While at GDB, Mr. Canto implemented a global macro trading strategy with success, focusing on fundamental trends and technical studies. Between July 2005 and August 2010, Mr. Canto worked as a portfolio manager and portfolio analyst at Santander Asset Management Corporation, where he traded interest rate derivatives, U.S. government agency debentures, structured products, municipal bonds, equities and equity derivatives, and in the Investment Banking division of Santander Securities Corporation. Mr. Canto has a Bachelor of Business Administration with a concentration in Finance from Boston University's School of Management.

Specific details regarding each Manager's principal occupations during the past five years are included in the table above.

Leadership Structure and Oversight Responsibilities

Overall responsibility for oversight of the Fund rests with the Board. The Fund has engaged the Adviser to manage the Fund on a day-to-day basis. The Board is responsible for overseeing the Adviser and other service providers in the operation of the Fund in accordance with the provisions of the 1940 Act, applicable provisions of state and other laws and the Fund's Limited Liability Company Agreement. The Board is currently composed of four members, three of whom are Independent Managers. The Board meets in-person at regularly scheduled meetings four times each year. In addition, the Board may hold special in-person or telephonic meetings or informal conference calls to discuss specific matters that may arise or require action between regular meetings. As described below, the Board has established an Audit Committee, and may establish ad hoc committees or working groups from time to time to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities.

The Board has appointed Mr. Canto, an interested Manager, to serve in the role of Chairman. The Chairman's role is to preside at all meetings of the Board and to act as liaison with the Adviser, other service providers, counsel and other Managers generally between meetings. The Chairman serves as a key point person for dealings between management and the Managers. The Chairman may also perform such other functions as may be delegated by the Board from time to time. The Board has determined that the Board's leadership structure is appropriate because it allows the Board to exercise informed and independent judgment over matters under its purview and it allocates areas of responsibility among committees of Managers and the full Board in a manner that enhances effective oversight.

The Fund is subject to a number of risks, including investment, compliance, operational and valuation risks, among others. Risk oversight forms part of the Board's general oversight of the Fund and is addressed as part of various Board and committee activities. Day-to-day risk management functions are subsumed within the responsibilities of the Adviser and other service providers (depending on the nature of the risk), which carry out the Fund's investment management and business affairs. The Adviser and other service providers employ a variety of processes, procedures and controls to identify various events or circumstances that give rise to risks, to lessen the probability of their occurrence and/or to mitigate the effects of such events or circumstances if they do occur. Each of the Adviser and other service providers have their own independent interests in risk management, and their policies and methods of risk management will depend on their functions and business models. The Board recognizes that it is not possible to identify all of the risks that may affect the Fund or to develop processes and controls to eliminate or mitigate their occurrence or effects. The Board requires senior officers of the Fund and the Adviser to report to the full Board on a variety of matters at regular and special meetings of the Board, including matters relating to risk management. The Board and the Audit Committee also receive regular reports from the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm on internal control and financial reporting matters. The Board also receives reports from certain of the Fund's other primary service providers on a periodic or regular basis. The Board may, at any time and in its discretion, change the manner in which it conducts risk oversight.

The Board has an Audit Committee, whose function is to recommend independent auditors of the Fund and monitor accounting and financial matters. The Audit Committee is composed of the Independent Managers. Mr. Ponte serves as the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The Board has determined that Mr. Ponte and Mr. Roig may serve as the Audit Committee Financial Experts. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the Audit Committee met two times.

The Board has a standing Nominating and Governance Committee that is composed of the Independent Managers. Mr. Ponte serves as Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee. The principal responsibility of the Nominating Committee is to consider, recommend and nominate candidates to fill vacancies on the Fund's Board, if any. The Nominating Committee will review all shareholder recommendations for nominations to fill vacancies on the Board if such recommendations are submitted in writing and addressed to the Committee at the Fund's office. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the Nominating and Governance Committee met two times.

The following tables show the dollar ranges of securities beneficially owned by the Managers in the Fund as of December 31, 2022. No Independent Manager or his or her immediate family member owns beneficially or of record an interest in the Adviser or in any person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with the Adviser. As of December 31, 2022, the Managers and Officers as a group held 0.12%, 0.76% and 3.13% of the outstanding shares of Class A, Class C and Institutional Class, respectively.

	Dollar Range of Equity Securities in the Fund	Aggregate Dollar Range of Equity Securities in All Registered Investment Companies Overseen by Manager in Fund Complex ¹
Independent Managers		
Ramón Ponte	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000
Denisse Rodríguez	None	None
Luis Roig	None	None
Interested Managers		
Ignacio Canto	Over \$100,000	Over \$100,000

¹ The Fund Complex consists of the Fund.

Board Compensation.

The Independent Managers receive a quarterly retainer of \$2,000 and a fee of \$1,000 per quarterly or special Board meeting attended in- person or telephonically. The Managers do not receive pension or retirement benefits as part of their compensation from the Fund. The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Mr. Ponte, does not receive an additional quarterly retainer. Ignacio Canto does not receive compensation in the form of manager fees from the Fund.

The Independent Managers received the following fees for their services during the Fund's most recent fiscal year:

Manager	Compensation from the Fund*	Total Compensation From Fund and Fund Complex Paid to Manager*
Fernando Nido**	\$3,000	\$3,000
Ramón Ponte***	\$9,000	\$9,000
Luis Roig	\$12,000	\$12,000
Denisse Rodríguez***	\$9,000	\$9,000

The Fund Complex consists of the Fund.

Position Hold by the Fund and

Officers.

The following table lists each officer of the Fund, his or her year of birth, position with the Fund, and principal occupations during the past five years. There is no defined term of office, and each officer of the Fund serves until the earlier of his or her resignation, retirement, removal, death, or the election of a qualified successor.

Name (Birth Year)	Length of Time Serviced	Principal Occupation for the Last Five Years
Ignacio Canto (1983)	President since January 2019	President of X-Square Capital, LLC since 2013.
Cristina Perez (1976)	Treasurer since May 2022	Chief Compliance Officer and Head of Operations at X-Square Capital since 2022. Banco Popular de Puerto Rico Mutual Fund's Administration from 1999 to 2022.
Gabriel Medina (1989)	Secretary since January 2019	Portfolio Manager of X-Square Capital, LLC since 2018. Chief Compliance Officer of X-Square Capital, LLC from 2015 to 2018. Analyst at Accenture from 2014 to 2015.
Ivana Kovačić (1977)	Chief Compliance Officer since 2022	Deputy Chief Compliance Officer, ALPS Fund Services, Inc. since October 2021. Ms.Kovačić joined ALPS in March 2020 as

^{**} Mr. Nido resigned from the Board effective April 25, 2022.

^{***} Mr. Ponte and Ms. Rodriguez became Managers of the Fund effective April 22, 2022.

a Regulatory Compliance Manager. Prior to her current role, Ms. Kovačić served as Senior Compliance Analyst at Jennison Associates (August 2013 – January 2019). Ms. Kovačić is also the Chief Compliance Officer for 1WS Credit Income Fund, ALPS Series Trust and Goehring & Rozencwajg Investment Funds.

The officers of the Fund receive no compensation from the Fund for performing the duties of their offices.

The mailing address of each officer of the Fund is Centro Internacional de Mercadeo II, 90 Carr. 165, Suite 803, Guaynabo, PR 00968.

ADVISORY AND OTHER CONTRACTS

The following sections describe the Fund's material agreements for investment advisory, custodial and transfer agency services.

Investment Adviser.

X-Square Capital, LLC, a Puerto Rico limited liability company registered as an investment adviser with the SEC, serves as the investment adviser to the Fund. Mr. Ignacio Canto is the owner of all the membership interests of the Adviser and also serves as its President, Treasurer and sole director. As of March 31, 2023, the Adviser managed approximately \$295,646,453 million for numerous clients.

Investment Advisory Agreement.

On March 8, 2019, the Board, including a majority of the Independent Managers, initially approved the investment advisory agreement between the Fund, on behalf of the Fund, and the Adviser (the "Advisory Agreement"). As compensation for advisory services to the Fund, the Adviser is entitled to an advisory fee of 1.00% of the average daily net assets of the Fund. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Fund incurred advisory fees of \$330,410, \$220,907 and \$43,019, respectively.

The Adviser has contractually agreed to reduce its fees and/or absorb expenses of the Fund, at least until one year from the date of the Fund's prospectus (through April 30, 2024), to ensure that Net Annual Operating Expenses (excluding taxes, extraordinary expenses, reorganization expenses, brokerage commissions, interest, other expenditures that are not capitalized in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and other extraordinary expenses not incurred in the ordinary course of the Fund's business) will not exceed 2.75%, 3.50% and 2.50% of the Fund's average daily net assets for Class A, Class C and Institutional Class shares, respectively. The Adviser will be permitted to recover, on a class-by-class basis, any fees waived and/or expenses reimbursed pursuant to the Agreement described above to the extent that the Fund expenses in later periods fall below the lesser of (i) the expense limitation in effect at the time the fees and/or expenses to be recovered were waived and/or reimbursed and (ii) the expense limitation in effect at the time the Adviser seeks to recover the fees or expenses. The Adviser will not be entitled to recover any such waived or reimbursed fees and expenses more than three years after the date on which the fees were waived or expenses were reimbursed. This Agreement shall continue automatically for periods of one year (each such one year period, a "Renewal Year"). This Agreement may be terminated, as to any succeeding Renewal Year, by either party upon 60 days' written notice prior to the end of the then current Renewal Year. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be terminated by the Board at any time if it determines that such termination is in the best interest of the Fund and its shareholders. The Adviser may not terminate this waiver arrangement without the approval of the Board. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Adviser waived fees and/or reimbursed expenses of \$174,643, \$167,075 and \$444,720, respectively, resulting in a net advisory fee of \$155,767 and \$53,832 for the periods ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, and in zero net advisory fees for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.

The Advisory Agreement provides that in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of obligations or duties under the agreement by the Adviser, or a breach of fiduciary duty with respect to receipt of compensation, neither the Adviser nor any of its directors, officers, shareholders, agents, or employees shall be liable to the Fund, the Fund or any shareholder of the Fund for any error of judgment or mistake of law or for any act or omission in the course of, or connected with, rendering services thereunder or for any loss suffered by the Fund, the Fund or any shareholder of the Fund in connection with the performance of the agreement.

The Advisory Agreement provides that unless sooner terminated, it will continue in effect as to the Fund for an initial two-year period and then may be renewed for consecutive one-year periods going forward, provided that such renewal is approved at least annually by the Board or by a vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of the Fund, and in either case, by a majority of the Independent Managers by votes cast in person at a meeting called for such purpose. The Advisory Agreement terminates automatically in the event of any assignment, as defined in the 1940 Act.

Portfolio Managers.

This section includes information about Ignacio Canto and Gabriel Medina, the Fund's portfolio managers, including information concerning other accounts they manage, the dollar range of Fund shares they own and how they are compensated.

Portfolio Manager	Number of Other Accounts (Total Assets)* as of December 31, 2022	Number of Other Accounts (Total Assets)* Subject to a Performance Fee as of December 31, 2022
Ignacio Canto		
Registered Investment Companies	None	None
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	2 (\$70,810,779)	2 (\$70,810,779)
Other Accounts	185 (\$181,430,441)	None
Gabriel Medina		
Registered Investment Companies	None	None
Other Pooled Investment Vehicles	2 (\$70,810,779)	2 (\$70,810,779)
Other Accounts	185 (\$181,430,441)	None

^{*} Rounded to the nearest dollar.

Portfolio Managers' Conflicts of Interest

In managing other investment companies, other pooled investment vehicles and other accounts, the Adviser may employ strategies similar to those employed by the Fund. As a result, these other accounts may invest in the same securities as the Fund. The SAI section entitled "Portfolio Transactions" discusses the various factors that the Adviser considers in allocating investment opportunities among the Fund and other similarly managed accounts.

Fund Ownership

As of December 31, 2022, the table below provides beneficial ownership of Shares of the portfolio managers of the Fund. Please note that the table provides a dollar range of the portfolio managers' holdings in the Fund (None, \$1-\$10,000, \$10,001-\$50,000, \$50,001-\$100,000, \$100,001-\$500,000, \$00,001-\$100,000, or over \$1,000,000).

Shares Beneficially Owned by	Dollar (\$) Range of Shares Beneficially Owned by	
Ignacio Canto*	\$100,001-\$500,000	
Gabriel Medina	\$1-\$10,000	

^{*} Mr. Canto is an indirect beneficial owner of Shares through his ownership of the Adviser.

Compensation

Each Portfolio manager receives base and discretionary compensation that is not directly linked to account performance.

Administration

ALPS Fund Services, Inc., acts as the administrator ("Administrator") for the Fund. The Administrator assists in the filing of required disclosure documents with the SEC, preparation of Board materials and assisting with compliance testing. For its services as Administrator, ALPS Fund Services, Inc. receives an annual fee from the Fund.

In addition, ALPS Fund Services, Inc. provides the Fund with fund accounting services, which includes certain monthly reports, record- keeping and other management-related services. The associated fees for these services are reflected in the Administration Agreement.

ALPS Fund Services, Inc. began providing transfer agency, fund administration and fund accounting services to the Fund on March 25, 2019. The Administrator receives an annual base fee from the Fund of \$125,000. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Fund paid the Administrator \$191,667, \$198,367 and \$195,553, respectively, in Fund accounting, administration and compliance fees.

Custodian.

U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, 425 Walnut Street, Cincinnati, Ohio 452024 (the "Custodian") serves as custodian for the assets of the Fund. Under the Custody Agreement, the Custodian holds the Fund's securities and keeps all necessary accounts and records. Under this Agreement, the Custodian (1) maintains a separate account or accounts in the name of the Fund; (2) makes receipts and disbursements of money on behalf of the Fund; (3) collects and receives all income and other payments and distributions on account of the Fund's securities; and (4) responds to correspondence from security brokers and others relating to its duties. The Custodian may, with the approval of the Fund and at the Custodian's own expense, open and maintain a sub-custody account or accounts on behalf of the Fund, provided that the Custodian shall remain liable for the performance of all of its duties under the Custodian Agreement. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the Fund paid the Custodian \$4,623 in custodian fees. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, the Fund paid its previous custodian, MUFG Union Bank, N.A., \$5,000 in custodian fees.

Distributor.

ALPS Distributors, Inc., 1290 Broadway, Suite 1000, Denver, CO 80203 (the "Distributor") serves as distributor for the continuous offering of the Fund's shares.

Fund Distribution and Services Plan.

As described in the Prospectus, the Fund has adopted a Distribution and Shareholder Servicing Plan pursuant to Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act (the "Plan"). Rule 12b-1 provides in substance that a mutual fund may not engage directly or indirectly in financing any activity that is primarily intended to result in the sale of shares of such mutual fund except pursuant to a plan adopted by the fund under Rule 12b-1. Under the Plan, the Fund is authorized to pay distribution fees in connection with the sale and distribution of its Shares and pay service fees in connection with the provision of ongoing services to shareholders of each class and the maintenance of shareholder accounts in an amount up to 0.25% of its average daily net assets each year with respect to Class A Shares, 0.00% with respect to Institutional Class shares and 1.00% with respect to Class C shares. The Class C distribution fee includes a distribution fee of up to 0.75% and a service fee of up to 0.25%. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, Class A Shares and Class C Shares paid \$69,025 and \$39,837 under the Plan, respectively.

In approving the Plan in accordance with the requirements of Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act, the Board, including a majority of the Independent Managers who have no direct or indirect financial interest in the operation of the Plan or in any agreements related to the Plan (the "Rule 12b-1 Managers"), considered various factors and determined that there is a reasonable likelihood that the Plan will benefit the Fund and its shareholders.

The Plan will continue in effect from year to year if specifically approved annually (a) by the majority of the Fund's outstanding voting shares or by the Board and (b) by the vote of a majority of the Rule 12b-1 Managers cast in person at a meeting called specifically for the purpose of voting on the Distribution Plan. While the Plan remains in effect, the Fund will furnish to the Board a written report of the amounts spent by the Fund under the Plan and the purposes for these expenditures. The Plan may not be amended to increase materially the amount to be spent for distribution or shareholder services without shareholder approval and all material amendments to the Plan must be approved by a majority of the Board and by the Rule 12b-1 Managers in a vote cast in person at a meeting called specifically for that purpose. While the Plan is in effect, the selection and nomination of the Independent Managers shall be made by those Independent Managers then in office, and a majority of the Board shall be comprised of Independent Managers.

Payments to Financial Intermediaries by the Adviser or its Affiliates.

In addition to and apart from payments made by the Fund under the Distribution Plan, the Adviser and its affiliates also may make payments out of their own assets to selected broker-dealer firms or other financial intermediaries that sell Class A Shares of the Fund for distribution, marketing, promotional, or related services. Such payments may be based on gross sales, assets under management, or transactional charges, or on a combination of these factors. Payments based primarily on sales create an incentive to make new sales of shares, while payments based on assets create an incentive to retain previously sold shares. Payments based on transactional charges may include the payment or reimbursement of all or a portion of "ticket charges." Ticket charges are fees charged to salespersons purchasing through a financial intermediary firm in connection with mutual fund purchases, redemptions, or exchanges. The payment or reimbursement of ticket charges creates an incentive for salespersons of an intermediary to sell shares of the Fund over shares of funds for which there is lesser or no payment or reimbursement of any applicable ticket charge. The Adviser and its affiliates consider a number of factors in making payments to financial intermediaries. Criteria may include, but are not limited to, the distribution capabilities of the intermediary, the overall quality of the relationship, expected gross and/or net sales generated by the relationship, redemption and retention rates of assets held through the intermediary, the willingness to cooperate with the Adviser's marketing efforts, access to sales personnel, and the anticipated profitability of sales through the institutional relationship. These factors and their weightings may differ from one intermediary to another and may change from time to time.

As of April 30, 2023, the broker-dealer firms with which the Adviser or its affiliates have agreements or are currently negotiating agreements to make payments out of their own assets related to the acquisition or retention of shareholders for Class A Shares of the Fund and its broker- dealer subsidiaries are as follows: Charles Schwab & Co., Inc., Fidelity Brokerage Services, LLC and Pershing, LLC. These fees may be in addition to fees paid from the Fund's assets to them or other financial intermediaries. Any additions, modifications, or deletions to the broker-dealer firms identified that have occurred since that date are not reflected.

In addition, for all share classes, the Adviser, the Distributor, or their affiliates may pay, from their own assets, brokerage firms, banks, financial advisors, retirement plan service providers, and other financial intermediaries' fees for providing other marketing or distribution-related services, as well as recordkeeping, sub-accounting, transaction processing, and other shareholder or administrative services in connection with investments in the Fund. These fees are in addition to any fees that may be paid from the Fund's assets to these financial intermediaries. The Adviser or its affiliates may have numerous agreements to make payments to financial institutions

which perform recordkeeping or other administrative services with respect to shareholder accounts. Contact your financial intermediary if you wish to determine whether it receives such payments.

The Adviser or its affiliates may also share certain marketing expenses with intermediaries, or pay for, or sponsor informational meetings, seminars, client awareness events, support for marketing materials, sales reporting, or business building programs for such financial intermediaries to raise awareness of the Fund. The Adviser or its affiliates may make payments to participate in intermediary marketing support programs which may provide the Adviser or its affiliates with one or more of the following benefits: attendance at sales conferences, participation in meetings or training sessions, access to or information about intermediary personnel, use of an intermediary's marketing and communication infrastructure, fund analysis tools, business planning and strategy sessions with intermediary personnel, information on industry- or platform-specific developments, trends and service providers, and other marketing-related services. Such payments may be in addition to, or in lieu of, the payments described above. These payments are intended to promote the sales of the Fund and to reimburse financial intermediaries, directly or indirectly, for the costs that they or their salespersons incur in connection with educational seminars, meetings, and training efforts about the Fund to enable the intermediaries and their salespersons to make suitable recommendations, provide useful services, and maintain the necessary infrastructure to make the Fund available to their customers.

The receipt of (or prospect of receiving) payments, reimbursements, and other forms of compensation described above may provide a financial intermediary and its salespersons with an incentive to favor sales of the Fund's shares over sales of other mutual funds (or non-mutual fund investments) or to favor sales of one class of the Fund's shares over sales of another, with respect to which the financial intermediary does not receive such payments or receives them in a lower amount. The receipt of these payments may cause certain financial intermediaries to elevate the prominence of the Fund within such financial intermediary's organization by, for example, placement on a list of preferred or recommended funds and/or the provision of preferential or enhanced opportunities to promote the Fund in various ways within such financial intermediary's organization.

From time to time, certain financial intermediaries approach the Adviser to request that the Adviser make contributions to certain charitable organizations. In these cases, the Adviser's contribution may result in the financial intermediary, or its salespersons, recommending the Fund over other mutual funds (or non-mutual fund investments).

The payment arrangements described above will not change the price an investor pays for Class A Shares nor the amount that the Fund receives to invest on behalf of the investor. You should consider whether such arrangements exist when evaluating any recommendations from an intermediary to purchase or sell Class A Shares and, if applicable, when considering which share class of the Fund is most appropriate for you.

Transfer Agent.

ALPS Fund Services, Inc. also acts as the transfer agent ("Transfer Agent") for the Fund. The Transfer Agent maintains the records of each shareholder's account, answers shareholders' inquiries concerning their accounts, processes purchases and redemptions of the Fund's shares, acts as dividend and distribution disbursing agent and performs other transfer agent and shareholder service functions. The Transfer Agent receives an annual base fee from the Fund of the greater of \$20,000 or 0.0175% of net assets plus a per account fee. During the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022, December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Fund paid the Transfer Agent \$41,635, \$39,822 and \$32,466, respectively, in transfer agent fees.

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

Kevane Grant Thornton, LLP, located at principal business address 33 Bolivia Street, Suite 400, San Juan PR 00917-2013, serves as the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm, providing audit services preparation of tax returns, and review of certain documents to be filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

Legal Counsel.

Thompson Hine LLP, 41 S. High Street, Suite 1700, Columbus, OH 43215, serves as counsel to the Fund and to the Independent Managers.

Code of Ethics.

The Fund and the Adviser have each adopted a Code of Ethics to which all investment personnel and all other access persons of the Fund and the Adviser must conform. Investment personnel must refrain from certain trading practices and are required to report certain personal investment activities. Under the Code of Ethics, investment personnel are prohibited from purchasing or selling any security that he or she knows or should have known is being considered for purchase or sale by the Fund or is being purchased or sold by the Fund. Violations of the Codes of Ethics can result in penalties, suspension, or termination of employment.

Proxy Voting Policy.

The Fund has adopted Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures to: (1) ensure that the Fund votes proxies in the best interests of shareholders of the Fund with a view toward maximizing the value of their investments; (2) address any conflicts that may arise between Fund shareholders on the one hand, and "affiliated persons" of the Fund or of the Adviser (or its affiliates) on the other; (3) provide for oversight of proxy voting by the Board; and (4) provide for the disclosure of the Fund's proxy voting records and this Policy.

The Fund has delegated the responsibility for voting proxies on behalf of the Fund with respect to all equity securities held by the Fund to the Adviser, in accordance with this Policy, subject to oversight by the Board. The Board has reviewed the Adviser's Proxy Voting Policy and Procedures (the "Adviser's Policy") and has determined that it is reasonably designed to ensure that the Adviser will vote all proxies in the best interests of the Fund's shareholders, untainted by conflicts of interests. The Fund's Policy and the Adviser's Policy are attached to this SAI at Appendix B. Both Policies are subject to Board oversight.

Information regarding how the Fund voted proxies relating to portfolio securities during the most recent 12-month period ended June 30 will be available: (1) without charge, upon request, by calling 833-X-SQUARE; (2) at the Fund's website (http://xsquarecapital.com/); and (3) at the SEC's website (www.sec.gov).

Portfolio Transactions.

Under the Advisory Agreement, the Adviser determines, subject to the general supervision of the Board, and in accordance with the Fund's investment objectives, policies and limitations, which securities are to be purchased and sold by the Fund, and which brokers are to be eligible to execute their portfolio transactions. Portfolio securities purchased or sold through a broker-dealer usually include a brokerage commission. At times, the Fund may also purchase portfolio securities directly from dealers acting as principals, underwriters or market makers. These transactions are usually conducted on a net basis, no brokerage commissions are paid by the Fund. While the Adviser generally seeks competitive spreads or commissions, the Fund may not necessarily pay the lowest spread or commission available on each transaction, for reasons discussed below. The allocation of transactions to brokers and dealers is determined by the Adviser in its best judgment and in a manner deemed fair and reasonable to shareholders. The primary consideration is prompt execution of orders in an effective manner at the most favorable price.

Subject to the consideration by the Adviser to obtain the best net price and the most favorable execution of the order, factors considered by the Adviser in selecting brokers or dealers include, but are not limited to: the quality and promptness of their execution (e.g., price paid or obtained for a security, speed of execution, ability to "work" a large order, etc.); their effectiveness of transaction clearing and settlement; their liquidity and the amount of capital commitment by the broker or dealer; the degree to which they have been available and responsive to the Adviser; the quality and promptness of research and brokerage services provided to the Adviser (both in general and with respect to particular accounts); and whether the investment in question was brought to the Adviser's attention by the particular broker-dealer.

Subject to the consideration of obtaining best execution, brokers and dealers who provide supplemental investment research to the Adviser may receive orders for transactions by the Fund. Information so received is in addition to and not in lieu of services required to be performed by the Adviser and does not reduce the investment advisory fee payable to the Adviser by the Fund. Such information may be useful to the Adviser in serving both the Fund and other clients and, conversely, such supplemental research information obtained by the placement of orders on behalf of other clients may be useful to the Adviser in carrying out its obligations to the Fund.

Multiple orders for the purchase or sale of the same security on behalf of clients of the Adviser are generally aggregated for block execution. The Adviser will aggregate transactions for block execution only upon making a good-faith determination that the accounts participating in the block trade will benefit from such aggregation, if such aggregation is consistent with the Adviser's duty to seek best execution (including duty to seek best price) for its clients, and if such aggregation is consistent with the terms of the investment advisory agreement with each client for which trades are being executed.

All accounts participating in a block execution receive the same execution price for equity or fixed income securities purchased or sold, as the case may be, for such accounts on a trading day.

In the event that a proprietary account is participating with the Fund in the block transaction, the proprietary account may receive an allocation only when the allocation is performed on a pro rata basis across all participating clients. In the event that the Adviser deems it necessary to allocate the partially executed order on a basis other than pro rata, the proprietary account shall be excluded from receiving any allocation of the executed order, resulting in the allocation being made to the Fund only.

Investment decisions for the Fund are made independently from those made for any other account managed by the Adviser. Such other accounts may also invest in the securities and may follow similar investment strategies as the Fund. When a purchase or sale of the same security is made at substantially the same time on behalf of the Fund and any other account, the transaction will be averaged as to price, and available investments allocated as to amount, in a manner which the Adviser believes to be equitable to both the Fund and account. In some instances, this investment procedure may affect the price paid or received by the Fund or the size of the position obtained by the Fund in an adverse manner relative to the result that would have been obtained if only the Fund had participated in or been allocated such trades. To the extent permitted by law, the Adviser may aggregate the securities to be sold or purchased for the Fund with those to be sold or purchased for other accounts in order to obtain best execution. In making investment recommendations for the Fund, the Adviser will not inquire or take into consideration whether an issuer of securities proposed for purchase or sale by the Fund is a customer of the Adviser or its affiliates.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, the Fund paid \$4,623 in brokerage commissions.

As of December 31, 2022, the Fund held securities of OFG Bancorp, the parent company of Oriental Securities, one of the Fund's regular brokers or dealers, with an aggregate value of \$97,149.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Fund's annual reports to shareholders for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 have been filed with the SEC. The financial statements and financial highlights in such annual reports are incorporated by reference into this SAI. The financial statements and financial highlights included in such annual report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021 have been audited by Kevane Grant Thornton, LLP, the Fund's independent registered public accounting firm, whose report thereon also appears in such annual report and is incorporated herein by reference. Information in the financial statements for periods prior to December 31, 2021 were audited by BDO Puerto Rico, PSC, the Fund's former independent registered public accounting firm. No other parts of the annual reports are incorporated by reference.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Description of Shares.

The Fund's Limited Liability Company Agreement, as may be amended, (the "LLC Agreement") authorizes the Board to issue an unlimited number of shares of the Fund, which are units of beneficial interest.

The Fund currently offers three separate classes of shares designated as Class A, Class C and Institutional Class shares. While the Fund presently intends to offer three classes of shares, it may offer other classes of shares as well in the future. Each class of shares will have differing characteristics, particularly in terms of the sales charges that shareholders in that class may bear, and the distribution and service fees that each class may be charged. Shares have no preemptive or other similar rights to subscribe to any additional shares or other securities issued by the Fund or the Board, whether of the same or another class and only such conversion or exchange rights as the Board may grant in its discretion.

The Fund may be dissolved upon the affirmative vote to dissolve the Fund by either (i) a majority of the members of the Board, or (ii) shareholders holding at least three-quarters (3/4) of the total number of votes eligible to be cast by all shareholders; or as required by operation of law.

Upon the liquidation of the Fund, after establishment of appropriate reserves for contingencies in such amounts as the Board or the liquidator, as applicable, deems appropriate in its sole discretion, the Fund's assets will be distributed: (i) first to satisfy the debts, liabilities, and obligations of the Fund (other than debts to shareholders) including actual or anticipated liquidation expenses; (ii) next to repay debts, liabilities and obligations owing to the shareholders; and (iii) finally to the shareholders (including the Adviser) proportionately in accordance with the balances in their respective capital accounts. Assets may be distributed in-kind on a *pro rata* basis if the Board or liquidator determines that such a distribution would be in the interests of the shareholders in facilitating an orderly liquidation.

The Board may, in its sole discretion, and if determined to be in the best interests of the shareholders, distribute the assets of the Fund into and through a liquidating trust to effect the liquidation of the Fund. The use of a liquidating trust would be subject to the regulatory requirements of the 1940 Act and applicable Puerto Rico law, and could result in additional expenses to the shareholders.

Each shareholder will have the right to cast a number of votes, based on the value of such shareholder's shares. Shareholders generally have the power to vote only: (a) for the election of one or more Managers in order to comply with the provisions of the 1940 Act (including Section 16(a) thereof); (b) with respect to any contract entered into by the Fund to the extent required by the 1940 Act; (c) with respect to termination of the Fund or class thereof to the extent required by applicable law; and (d) with respect to such additional matters relating to the Fund as may be required by the LLC Agreement or any registration of the Fund as an investment company under the 1940 Act or as the Board of Managers may consider necessary or desirable.

Shareholder and Manager Liability.

The Puerto Rico General Corporation Law provides that a shareholder of a Puerto Rico limited liability company, such as the Fund, shall be entitled to the same limitation of personal liability extended to shareholders of Puerto Rico corporations, and the LLC Agreement provides that shareholders of the Fund will be liable for the debts, obligations and liabilities of the Fund only to the extent of any contributions to the capital of the Fund (plus any accretions in value thereto prior to withdrawal).

The LLC Agreement provides that the members and former members of the Board and officers and former officers of the Fund shall not be liable to the Fund or any of the shareholders for any loss or damage occasioned by any act or omission in the performance of their services as such in the absence of willful misfeasance or gross negligence of the duties involved in the conduct of their office or as otherwise required by applicable law. The LLC Agreement also contains provisions for the indemnification, to the extent permitted by law, of the members and former members of the Board and officers and former officers of the Fund (as well as certain other related parties) by the Fund (but not by the shareholders individually) against any liability and expense to which any of them may be liable that arise in connection with the performance of their activities on behalf of the Fund. None of these persons shall be personally liable to any shareholder for the repayment of any positive balance in the shareholder's capital account or for contributions by the shareholder to the capital of the Fund or by reason of any change in the federal or state income tax laws applicable to the Fund or its investors. The rights of indemnification and exculpation provided under the LLC Agreement shall not be construed so as to limit liability or provide for indemnification of the members and former members of the Board, officers and former officers of the Fund, and the other persons entitled to such indemnification for any liability (including liability under applicable federal or state securities laws which, under certain circumstances, impose liability even on persons that act in good faith), to the extent (but only to the extent) that such indemnification or limitation on liability would be in violation of applicable law, but shall be construed so as to effectuate the applicable provisions of the LLC Agreement to the fullest extent permitted by law.

The LLC Agreement provides that the Board has broad powers to amend the LLC Agreement or approve the reorganization of the Fund, without the approval of shareholders, unless such approval is otherwise required by law. The LLC Agreement allows the Managers to take actions upon the authority of a majority of the Board by written consent in lieu of a meeting.

Shareholder Voting Procedures.

The LLC Agreement defines the rights and obligations of the Fund's officers and provide rules for routine matters such as calling meetings. The LLC Agreement governs the use of proxies at shareholder meetings. According to the LLC Agreement, proxies may be given by telephone, computer, other electronic means or otherwise pursuant to procedures reasonably designed, as determined by the Board, to verify that the shareholder has authorized the instructions contained therein.

CONTROL PERSONS AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS OF SECURITIES.

A principal shareholder is any person who owns (either of record or beneficially) 5% or more of the outstanding shares of any class of the Fund. A control person is one who owns, either directly or indirectly, more than 25% of the voting securities of the Fund or acknowledges the existence of such control. A control person can have a significant impact on the outcome of a shareholder vote. The following table shows, to the best knowledge of the Fund, the beneficial or record holders of 5% or greater of each class of the Fund's shares as of March 31, 2023:

X-Square Balanced Fund - Class A

Name and Address	% Ownership
NATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LLC 82 DEVONSHIRE ST BOSTON, MA 02109	40.10%
CHARLES SCHWAB & CO., INC. 211 MAIN STREET SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94105	30.68%
PERSHING LLC ONE PERSHING PLAZA JERSEY CITY, NJ 07399	27.87%

X-Square Balanced Fund - Class C

Name and Address	% Ownership
PERSHING LLC	82.97%
ONE PERSHING PLAZA	
JERSEY CITY, NJ 07399	
NATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LLC	16.24%
82 DEVONSHIRE ST	
BOSTON, MA 02109	

X-Square Balanced Fund – Institutional Class

Name and Address	% Ownership
PERSHING LLC 95 CHRISTOPHER COLUMBUS DR. JERSEY CITY, NJ 07399	90.22%
NATIONAL FINANCIAL SERVICES LLC 82 DEVONSHIRE ST BOSTON, MA 02109	6.72%

Miscellaneous.

The Fund is registered with the SEC as an open-end management investment company. Such registration does not involve supervision by the SEC of the management or policies of the Fund. The Prospectus and this SAI do not include certain information contained in the registration statement filed with the SEC. Copies of such information may be obtained from the SEC upon payment of the prescribed fee.

APPENDIX A – DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES RATINGS

Short-Term Credit Ratings

- An *S&P Global Ratings* short-term issue credit rating is generally assigned to those obligations considered short-term in the relevant market. The following summarizes the rating categories used by S&P Global Ratings for short-term issues:
- "A-1" A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on these obligations is extremely strong.
- "A-2" A short-term obligation rated "A-2" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is satisfactory.
- "A-3" A short-term obligation rated "A-3" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken an obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "B" A short-term obligation rated "B" is regarded as vulnerable and has significant speculative characteristics. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments.
- "C" A short-term obligation rated "C" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "D" A short-term obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within any stated grace period. However, any stated grace period longer than five business days will be treated as five business days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring.

Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings – S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.

"NR" – This indicates that a rating has not been assigned or is no longer assigned.

Moody's Investors Service ("Moody's") short-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of thirteen months or less and reflect both on the likelihood of a default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment.

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

- "P-1" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 reflect a superior ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "P-2" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 reflect a strong ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "P-3" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 reflect an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.
- "NP" Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.
- "NR" Is assigned to an unrated issuer.
- Fitch, Inc. / Fitch Ratings Ltd. ("Fitch") short-term issuer or obligation rating is based in all cases on the short-term vulnerability to default of the rated entity and relates to the capacity to meet financial obligations in accordance with the documentation governing the relevant obligation. Short-term deposit ratings may be adjusted for loss severity. Short-term ratings are assigned to obligations whose initial maturity is viewed as "short-term" based on market convention. Typically, this means up to 13

months for corporate, sovereign, and structured obligations and up to 36 months for obligations in U.S. public finance markets. The following summarizes the rating categories used by Fitch for short-term obligations:

"F1" – Securities possess the highest short-term credit quality. This designation indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.

A long-term rating can also be used to rate an issue with short maturity.

- "F2" Securities possess good short-term credit quality. This designation indicates good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.
- "F3" Securities possess fair short-term credit quality. This designation indicates that the intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.
- "B" Securities possess speculative short-term credit quality. This designation indicates minimal capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.
 - "C" Securities possess high short-term default risk. Default is a real possibility.
- "RD" Restricted default. Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or more of its financial commitments, although it continues to meet other financial obligations. Typically applicable to entity ratings only.
 - "D" Default. Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, or the default of a short-term obligation.
 - "NR" Is assigned to an unrated issue of a rated issuer.
- The *DBRS Morningstar*® *Ratings Limited* ("DBRS Morningstar") short-term obligation ratings provide DBRS Morningstar's opinion on the risk that an issuer will not meet its short-term financial obligations in a timely manner. The obligations rated in this category typically have a term of shorter than one year. The R-1 and R-2 rating categories are further denoted by the subcategories "(high)", "(middle)", and "(low)".

The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for commercial paper and short-term debt:

- "R-1 (high)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (high)" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is exceptionally high. Unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.
- "R-1 (middle)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (middle)" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is very high. Differs from "R-1 (high)" by a relatively modest degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.
- "R-1 (low)" Short-term debt rated "R-1 (low)" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is substantial. Overall strength is not as favorable as higher rating categories. May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.
- "R-2 (high)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (high)" is considered to be at the upper end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.
- "R-2 (middle)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (middle)" is considered to be of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events or may be exposed to other factors that could reduce credit quality.
- "R-2 (low)" Short-term debt rated "R-2 (low)" is considered to be at the lower end of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events. A number of challenges are present that could affect the issuer's ability to meet such obligations.
- "R-3" Short-term debt rated "R-3" is considered to be at the lowest end of adequate credit quality. There is a capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due. May be vulnerable to future events and the certainty of meeting such obligations could be impacted by a variety of developments.
- "R-4" Short-term debt rated "R-4" is considered to be of speculative credit quality. The capacity for the payment of short-term financial obligations as they fall due is uncertain.
- "R-5" Short-term debt rated "R-5" is considered to be of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet short-term financial obligations as they fall due.
- "D" Short-term debt rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding-up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods. DBRS Morningstar may also use "SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

Long-Term Credit Ratings

The following summarizes the ratings used by **S&P Global Ratings** for long-term issues:

"AAA" – An obligation rated "AAA" has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is extremely strong.

- "AA" An obligation rated "AA" differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is very strong.
- "A" An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is still strong.
- "BBB" An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" Obligations rated "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC" and "C" are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. "BB" indicates the least degree of speculation and "C" the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposure to adverse conditions.
- "BB" An obligation rated "BB" is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "B" An obligation rated "B" is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated "BB", but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "CCC" An obligation rated "CCC" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
- "CC" An obligation rated "CC" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The "CC" rating is used when a default has not yet occurred but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.
- "C" An obligation rated "C" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment, and the obligation is expected to have lower relative seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared with obligations that are rated higher.
- "D" An obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or 30 calendar days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed debt restructuring
- Plus (+) or minus (-) The ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the rating categories.
 - "NR" This indicates that a rating has not been assigned, or is no longer assigned.
- Local Currency and Foreign Currency Ratings S&P Global Ratings' issuer credit ratings make a distinction between foreign currency ratings and local currency ratings. A foreign currency rating on an issuer can differ from the local currency rating on it when the obligor has a different capacity to meet its obligations denominated in its local currency, versus obligations denominated in a foreign currency.
- *Moody's* long-term ratings are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations with an original maturity of eleven months or more. Such ratings reflect both on the likelihood of default or impairment on contractual financial obligations and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default or impairment. The following summarizes the ratings used by Moody's for long-term debt:
 - "Aaa" Obligations rated "Aaa" are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk.
 - "Aa" Obligations rated "Aa" are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.
 - "A" Obligations rated "A" are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.

- "Baa" Obligations rated "Baa" are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.
 - "Ba" Obligations rated "Ba" are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.
 - "B" Obligations rated "B" are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.
 - "Caa" Obligations rated "Caa" are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.
- "Ca" Obligations rated "Ca" are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.

"C" – Obligations rated "C" are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

Note: Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from "Aa" through "Caa." The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category.

"NR" – Is assigned to unrated obligations.

The following summarizes long-term ratings used by *Fitch*:

- "AAA" Securities considered to be of the highest credit quality. "AAA" ratings denote the lowest expectation of credit risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.
- "AA" Securities considered to be of very high credit quality. "AA" ratings denote expectations of very low credit risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.
- "A" Securities considered to be of high credit quality. "A" ratings denote expectations of low credit risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.
- "BBB" Securities considered to be of good credit quality. "BBB" ratings indicate that expectations of credit risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate, but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.
- "BB" Securities considered to be speculative. "BB" ratings indicate that there is an elevated vulnerability to credit risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial alternatives may be available to allow financial commitments to be met.
 - "B" Securities considered to be highly speculative. "B" ratings indicate that material credit risk is present
 - "CCC" A "CCC" rating indicates that substantial credit risk is present.
 - "CC" A "CC" rating indicates very high levels of credit risk.
 - "C" A "C" rating indicates exceptionally high levels of credit risk.

Defaulted obligations typically are not assigned "RD" or "D" ratings but are instead rated in the "CCC" to "C" rating categories, depending on their recovery prospects and other relevant characteristics. Fitch believes that this approach better aligns obligations that have comparable overall expected loss but varying vulnerability to default and loss.

- Plus (+) or minus (-) may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the "AAA" obligation rating category, or to corporate finance obligation ratings in the categories below "CCC".
 - "NR" Is assigned to an unrated issue of a rated issuer.
- The *DBRS* Morningstar long-term obligation ratings provide DBRS Morningstar's opinion on the risk that investors may not be repaid in accordance with the terms under which the long-term obligation was issued. The obligations rated in this category typically have a term of one year or longer. All rating categories other than AAA and D also contain subcategories "(high)" and "(low)". The absence of either a "(high)" or "(low)" designation indicates the rating is in the middle of the category. The following summarizes the ratings used by DBRS Morningstar for long-term debt:
- "AAA" Long-term debt rated "AAA" is of the highest credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is exceptionally high and unlikely to be adversely affected by future events.
- "AA" Long-term debt rated "AA" is of superior credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered high. Credit quality differs from "AAA" only to a small degree. Unlikely to be significantly vulnerable to future events.

- "A" Long-term debt rated "A" is of good credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is substantial, but of lesser credit quality than "AA." May be vulnerable to future events, but qualifying negative factors are considered manageable.
- "BBB" Long-term debt rated "BBB" is of adequate credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is considered acceptable. May be vulnerable to future events.
- "BB" Long-term debt rated "BB" is of speculative, non-investment grade credit quality. The capacity for the payment of financial obligations is uncertain. Vulnerable to future events.

- "B" Long-term debt rated "B" is of highly speculative credit quality. There is a high level of uncertainty as to the capacity to meet financial obligations.
- "CCC", "CC" and "C" Long-term debt rated in any of these categories is of very highly speculative credit quality. In danger of defaulting on financial obligations. There is little difference between these three categories, although "CC" and "C" ratings are normally applied to obligations that are seen as highly likely to default, or subordinated to obligations rated in the "CCC" to "B" range. Obligations in respect of which default has not technically taken place but is considered inevitable may be rated in the "C" category.
- "D" A security rated "D" is assigned when the issuer has filed under any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or winding up statute or there is a failure to satisfy an obligation after the exhaustion of grace periods. DBRS Morningstar may also use "SD" (Selective Default) in cases where only some securities are impacted, such as the case of a "distressed exchange".

Municipal Note Ratings

An *S&P Global Ratings* U.S. municipal note rating reflects S&P Global Ratings' opinion about the liquidity factors and market access risks unique to the notes. Notes due in three years or less will likely receive a note rating. Notes with an original maturity of more than three years will most likely receive a long-term debt rating. In determining which type of rating, if any, to assign, S&P Global Ratings' analysis will review the following considerations:

- Amortization schedule the larger the final maturity relative to other maturities, the more likely it will be treated as a note; and
- Source of payment the more dependent the issue is on the market for its refinancing, the more likely it will be treated as a note.

Municipal Short-Term Note rating symbols are as follows:

- "SP-1" A municipal note rated "SP-1" exhibits a strong capacity to pay principal and interest. An issue determined to possess a very strong capacity to pay debt service is given a plus (+) designation.
- "SP-2" A municipal note rated "SP-2" exhibits a satisfactory capacity to pay principal and interest, with some vulnerability to adverse financial and economic changes over the term of the notes.
 - "SP-3" A municipal note rated "SP-3" exhibits a speculative capacity to pay principal and interest.
- "D" This rating is assigned upon failure to pay the note when due, completion of a distressed debt restructuring, or the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions.
- *Moody's* uses the global short-term Prime rating scale (listed above under Short-Term Credit Ratings) for commercial paper issued by U.S. municipalities and nonprofits. These commercial paper programs may be backed by external letters of credit or liquidity facilities, or by an issuer's self-liquidity.

For other short-term municipal obligations, Moody's uses one of two other short-term rating scales, the Municipal Investment Grade ("MIG") and Variable Municipal Investment Grade ("VMIG") scales provided below.

Moody's uses the MIG scale for U.S. municipal cash flow notes, bond anticipation notes and certain other short-term obligations, which typically mature in three years or less. Under certain circumstances, Moody's uses the MIG scale for bond anticipation notes with maturities of up to five years.

MIG Scale

- "MIG-1" This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by established cash flows, highly reliable liquidity support, or demonstrated broad-based access to the market for refinancing.
- "MIG-2" This designation denotes strong credit quality. Margins of protection are ample, although not as large as in the preceding group.

- "MIG-3" This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Liquidity and cash-flow protection may be narrow, and market access for refinancing is likely to be less well-established.
- "SG" This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Debt instruments in this category may lack sufficient margins of protection.

"NR" - Is assigned to an unrated obligation.

In the case of variable rate demand obligations ("VRDOs"), a two-component rating is assigned. The components are a long-term rating and a short-term demand obligation rating. The long-term rating addresses the issuer's ability to meet scheduled principal and interest payments. The short-term demand obligation rating addresses the ability of the issuer or the liquidity provider to make payments associated with the purchase-price-upon demand feature ("demand feature") of the VRDO. The short-term demand obligation rating uses the VMIG scale. VMIG ratings with liquidity support use as an input the short-term Counterparty Risk Assessment of the support provider, or the long-term rating of the underlying obligor in the absence of third party liquidity support. Transitions of VMIG ratings of demand obligations with conditional liquidity support differ from transitions on the Prime scale to reflect the risk that external liquidity support will terminate if the issuer's long-term rating drops below investment grade.

Moody's typically assigns the VMIG short-term demand obligation rating if the frequency of the demand feature is less than every three years. If the frequency of the demand feature is less than three years but the purchase price is payable only with remarketing proceeds, the short-term demand obligation rating is "NR".

- "VMIG-1" This designation denotes superior credit quality. Excellent protection is afforded by the superior short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "VMIG-2" This designation denotes strong credit quality. Good protection is afforded by the strong short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "VMIG-3" This designation denotes acceptable credit quality. Adequate protection is afforded by the satisfactory short-term credit strength of the liquidity provider and structural and legal protections.
- "SG" This designation denotes speculative-grade credit quality. Demand features rated in this category may be supported by a liquidity provider that does not have a sufficiently strong short-term rating or may lack the structural and/or legal protections.
 - "NR" Is assigned to an unrated obligation.

About Credit Ratings

An *S&P Global Ratings* issue credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation, a specific class of financial obligations, or a specific financial program (including ratings on medium-term note programs and commercial paper programs). It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers, or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation and takes into account the currency in which the obligation is denominated. The opinion reflects S&P Global Ratings' view of the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due, and this opinion may assess terms, such as collateral security and subordination, which could affect ultimate payment in the event of default.

Ratings assigned on *Moody's* global long-term and short-term rating scales are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations issued by non-financial corporates, financial institutions, structured finance vehicles, project finance vehicles, and public sector entities.

Fitch's credit ratings are forward-looking opinions on the relative ability of an entity or obligation to meet financial commitments. Issuer default ratings (IDRs) are assigned to corporations, sovereign entities, financial institutions such as banks, leasing companies and insurers, and public finance entities (local and regional governments). Issue level ratings are also assigned, often include an expectation of recovery and may be notched above or below the issuer level rating. Issue ratings are assigned to secured and unsecured debt securities, loans, preferred stock and other instruments. Credit ratings are indications of the likelihood of repayment in accordance with the terms of the issuance. In limited cases, Fitch may include additional considerations (i.e., rate to a higher or lower standard than that implied in the obligation's documentation).

DBRS Morningstar offers independent, transparent, and innovative credit analysis to the market. Credit ratings are forward-looking opinions about credit risk that reflect the creditworthiness of an issuer, rated entity, security and/or obligation based on DBRS Morningstar's quantitative and qualitative analysis in accordance with applicable methodologies and criteria. They are meant to provide opinions on relative measures of risk and are not based on expectations of, or meant to predict, any specific default probability. Credit ratings are not statements of fact. DBRS Morningstar issues credit ratings using one or more categories, such as public, private, provisional, final(ized), solicited, or unsolicited. From time to time, credit ratings may also be subject to trends, placed under review, or discontinued. DBRS Morningstar credit ratings are determined by credit rating committees.

APPENDIX B - PROXY VOTING POLICIES

X-Square Balanced Fund, LLC Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures

X-Square Balanced Fund, LLC (the "Fund") has adopted a Proxy Voting Policy used to determine how the Fund votes proxies relating to their portfolio securities. Under the Fund's Proxy Voting Policy, each Fund has, subject to the oversight of the Fund's Board, delegated to the Adviser the following duties: (1) to make the proxy voting decisions for the Fund, subject to the exceptions described below; and (2) to assist the Fund in disclosing their respective proxy voting record as required by Rule 30b1-4 under the 1940 Act.

In cases where a matter with respect to which a Fund was entitled to vote presents a conflict between the interest of a Fund's shareholders, on the one hand, and those of the Fund's investment adviser, principal underwriter, or an affiliated person of the Fund, its investment adviser, or principal underwriter, on the other hand, the Fund shall always vote in the best interest of the Fund's shareholders. For purposes of this Policy a vote shall be considered in the best interest of the Fund's shareholders when a vote is cast consistent with the specific voting policy as set forth in the Adviser's Proxy Voting Policy (described below), provided such specific voting policy was approved by the Board.

The Fund's Chief Compliance Officer shall ensure that the Adviser has adopted a Proxy Voting Policy, which it uses to vote proxies for its clients, including the Fund.

1. General

The Fund believe that the voting of proxies is an important part of portfolio management as it represents an opportunity for shareholders to make their voices heard and to influence the direction of a company. The Fund is committed to voting corporate proxies in the manner that best serves the interests of the Fund's shareholders.

2. Delegation to the Adviser

The Fund believes that the Adviser is in the best position to make individual voting decisions for the Fund consistent with this Policy. Therefore, subject to the oversight of the Board, the Adviser is hereby delegated the following duties:

- a) to make the proxy voting decisions for the Fund, in accordance with the Adviser's Proxy Voting Policy, except as provided herein; and
- b) to assist the Fund in disclosing their respective proxy voting record as required by Rule 30b1-4 under the 1940 Act, including providing the following information for each matter with respect to which the Fund are entitled to vote: (a) information identifying the matter voted on; (b) whether the matter was proposed by the issuer or by a security holder; (c) whether and how the Fund cast its vote; and (d) whether the Fund cast its vote for or against management.

The Board, including a majority of the independent managers of the Board, must approve each Adviser's Proxy Voting and Disclosure Policy (the "Adviser Voting Policy") as it relates to the Fund. The Board must also approve any material changes to the Adviser Voting Policy no later than six (6) months after adoption by an Adviser.

3. Conflicts

In cases where a matter with respect to which a Fund was entitled to vote presents a conflict between the interest of the Fund's shareholders, on the one hand, and those of the Fund's investment adviser, principal underwriter, or an affiliated person of the Fund, its investment adviser, or principal underwriter, on the other hand, the Fund shall always vote in the best interest of the Fund's shareholders. For purposes of this Policy a vote shall be considered in the best interest of the Fund's shareholders when a vote is cast consistent with the specific voting policy as set forth in the Adviser Voting Policy, provided such specific voting policy was approved by the Board.

Adopted: January 29, 2019

X-Square Capital, LLC Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures

Policies and Procedures

Proxy Voting

X- Square Capital, LLC ("X-Square") has adopted the following proxy voting procedures designed to ensure that proxies are properly identified and voted, and that any conflicts of interest are addressed appropriately:

- The CCO determines at the inception of the advisory relationship whether the Client or X-Square will retain proxy voting authority and whether the Client has provided X-Square with any instructions on how to vote its proxies. The CCO should document any instance where a Client has retained proxy voting authority or given X-Square proxy voting instructions.
- The CCO coordinates with the Client's custodian to ensure that either X-Square receives copies of the Client's proxy statements or that the proxy statements are forwarded to the Client/Client's designee.
- Each proxy received is evaluated by the Investment Committee on a case-by-case basis. The Investment Committee decides whether to vote a proxy and, if so, how to vote a proxy. The Investment Committee may decide to abstain if it believes that abstaining is in the best interest of the Client.
- When evaluating each proxy, the Investment Committee will consider any Client-specific instructions and whether X-Square is subject to any material conflict of interest. It is impossible to anticipate all material conflicts of interest that could arise in connection with proxy voting. The following examples are meant to help Portfolio Managers identify potential conflicts:
 - X-Square provides investment advice to an officer or director of an Issuer. X-Square receives a proxy solicitation from that Issuer, or from a competitor of that Issuer; and
 - An Employee, or a member of an Employee's household, has a personal or business relationship with an Issuer. X-Square receives a proxy solicitation from that Issuer.
- If the Investment Committee detects a material conflict of interest, it will consult with an independent third party, a third-party proxy voting service's proxy voting guidelines, or Outside Counsel.
- If no material conflict of interest is identified or if the conflict is appropriately addressed (as discussed above), the Investment Committee or will seek to vote the proxy for the relevant Client in the Client's best interest or in accordance with the Client's instructions.
- The CCO will document each decision to vote or to abstain.
 - The documentation should be sufficient to retroactively substantiate X-Square's rationale for voting or abstaining.
 - o If X-Square votes the same proxy in two directions, the CCO will maintain documentation describing the reasons for each vote (e.g., X-Square believes that voting with management is in Clients' best interests, but Client X gave specific instructions to vote against management).
- Proxies received after a Client terminates its advisory relationship with X-Square will not be voted. The CCO will promptly return such proxies to the sender, along with a statement indicating that X- Square's advisory relationship with the Client has terminated, and that future proxies should not be sent to X-Square.